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STATE OF NEW YORK COUNTY OF ERIE
COUNTY COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,

Plaintiff,

vs.

AFFIDAVIT OF
PAUL J. CAMBRIA JR., ESQ.

IN SUPPORT OF
NOTICE OF MOTION

Ind. No. 01177-2016(SAG)

G. STEVEN PIGEON,

Defendant.

STATE OF NEW YORK )
COL~TTY OF ERIE ~ ss:
CITY OF BUFFALO )

Paul J. Cambria Jr., Esq., being duly sworn, deposes and says:

1) I am an attorney at law duly licensed to practice in the State of New York and

am a senior partner in the law firm of Lipsitz Green Scime Cambria LLP, located at 42 Delaware

Avenue, Suite 300, Buffalo, New York.

2) Barry Nelson Covert, Esq., Justin D. Ginter, Esq., and I represent the

defendant, G. Steven Pigeon ("Defendant" or "Mr. Pigeon"), who is charged in a nine count

indictment ("Indictment"). (A true and correct copy of the Indictment is attached hereto as E~ibit

A.)
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3) The Indictment alleges as follows:

COUNT ONE

THE GRAND JURY OF THE COUNTY OF ERIE, by this
indictment, accuses the defendant, G. Steven Pigeon, of the crime of
BRIBERY IN THE SECOND DEGREE, in violation of Section
200.03 of the Penal Law of the State of New York, a class "C" Felony,
committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of
Erie, State of New York, in or about February 2012 through in or about
April 2015, conferred, offered, and agreed to confer a benefit valued
in excess of ten thousand dollars upon John A. Michalek, a public
servant, upon an agreement and understanding that such public
servants vote, opinion judgment, action, decision and. exercise of
discretion of a public servant would thereby be influenced.

COUNT TWO

AND THE GRAND JiJRY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further
accuses the defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime BRIBERY
IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law Section 200.00,
a class D felony, committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of
Erie, State of New York, in or about February 2012 through in or about
April 2015, conferred, offered, and agreed to confer a benefit upon
John A. Michalek, a public servant, upon an agreement or
understanding that such public servant's vote, judgment, action,
decision and exercise of discretion as a public servant would thereby
be influenced.

COUNT THREE

AND THE GRAND NRY AFORESAID, by this indichnent, further
accuses the defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of
REWARDING OFFICIAL MISCONDUCT 1N THE SECOND
DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law Section 200.20, a class E felony,
committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of
Erie, State of New York, in or about February 2012 through on or
about March 16, 2015, knowingly conferred, offered, and agreed to
confer upon John A. Michalek, a public servant, a benefit, namely,
providing assistance in searches for employment for RELATIVE 1, a
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close relative of John A. Michalek known to the Grand Jury, for
having violated his duty as a public servant.

COUNT FOUR

AND THE GRAND J[TRY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further
accuses the defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of
REWARDING OFFICIAL MISCONDUCT 1N THE SECOND
DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law Section 200.20, a class E felony,
committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of
Erie, State of New York, on or about December 10, 2012, through on
or about April 20, 2015, knowingly conferred, offered, and agreed to
confer upon John A. Michalek, a public servant, a benefit, namely,
providing assistance with efforts to be recommended to an
appointment to the Appellate Division for New York State Supreme
Court Justice John A. Michalek, for having violated his duty as a
public servant.

COUNT FIVE

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further
accuses the defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of
REWARDING OFFICIAL MISCONDUCT 1N THE SECOND
DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law Section 200.20, a class E felony,
committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of
Erie, State of New York, on or about February 1, 2013, through on or
about February 3, 2013, knowingly conferred, offered, and agreed to
confer upon John A. Michalek, a public servant, a benefit, namely
hockey tickets, for having violated his duty as a public servant.

COUNT SIX

AND THE GRAND J[JRY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further
accuses the defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of
REWARDING OFFICIAL MISCONDUCT IN THE SECOND
DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law Section 200.20, a class E felony,
committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of
Erie, State of New York, on or about March 11, 2013, through on or
about March 21, 2013, l~owingly conferred, offered, and agreed to



confer upon John A. Michalek, a public servant, a benefit, namely,
hockey tickets, for having violated his duty as a public servant.

COUNT SEVEN

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further
accuses the defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of
REWARDING OFFICIAL MISCONDUCT IN THE SECOND
DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law Section 200.20, a class E felony,
committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of
Erie, State of New York, on or about October 30, 2013, through on or
about January 26, 2015, knowingly conferred, offered, and agreed to
confer upon John A. Michalek, a public servant, a benefit, namely,
providing assistance in searches for employment and appointed
positions for RELATIVE 2, a close relative of John A. Michalek
known to the Grand Jury, for having violated his duty as a public
servant.

COUNT EIGHT

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further
accuses the defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of
REWARDING OFFICIAL MISCONDUCT IN THE SECOND
DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law Section 200.20, a class E felony,
committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of
Erie, State of New York, on or about November 16, 2013, through on
or about November 19, 2013, knowingly conferred, offered, and
agreed to confer upon John A. Michalek,. a public servant, a benefit,
namely, a fundraiser ticket, for having violated his duty as a public
servant.

COUNT 1~INE

AND THE GRAND J[JRY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further
accuses the defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of GRAND
LARCENY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law
Section 155.35(1), a class D felony, committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of
Erie, State of New York, on or about August 23, 2012, through on or
about March 22, 2013, stole property by extortion from a person
known to the Grand Jury and the value of the property exceeded
$3,000.00.
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4) This affidavit is made in support of numerous requests for relief. For the

convenience of the Court and opposing counsel, this affidavit is organized into subsections, with each

subsection reflecting the particular type of relief sought. Additionally, for the convenience of the

Court, Mr. Pigeon has attached copies of the discovery documents underlying the instant omnibus

motion: Defendant's Demand to Produce (a true and correct copy of which is attached as E~ibit B);

Defendant's Demand for a Bill of Particulars (a true and correct copy of which is attached as E~ibit

C); the People's Response to Defendant's Demand to Produce (a true and correct copy of which is

attached as Exhibit D); and the People's Response to Defendant's Demand for a Bill of Particulars (a

true and correct copy of which is attached as E~ibit E).

I

MOTION FOR SUPPRESSION OF
DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS

5) Mr. Pigeon was served with a notice pursuant to C.P.L. § 710.30, which

alleges that he made oral statements to law enforcement officials on August 15, 2008. (See Pl.'s §

710.30 Notice, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as E~ibit F.)

6) Mr. Pigeon moves, pursuant to C.P.L. § 710.20, for the suppression of any

and all statements attributed to him on the grounds that those statements were taken involuntarily

and/or were obtained in violation of his rights under the United States and New York State

Constitutions, including his New York State Constitutional right to counsel, as well as Article 60 of

the Criminal Procedure Law.

7) Mr. Pigeon further requests a hearing pursuant to People v. Huntley, 15

N.Y.2d 72 (1965), because it is believed that Mr. Pigeon's statements were involuntarily made,

and/or were made in violation of his rights under the United States and New York State

Constitutions, as well as Article 60 of the Criminal Procedure Law.
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WHEREFORE, Mr. Pigeon respectfully requests that the Court enter an Order

suppressing and/or precluding admission of any such statements allegedly made by him, and any

evidence derived thereof as fiuit of the poisonous tree. Alternatively, Mr. Pigeon moves for a

hearing pursuant to People v. Huntley, supra to deternline the voluntariness of his purported

statements.

II

MOTION TO COMPEL DISCLOSURE OF BRADYMATERIAL INCLUDING, BUT NOT
LIMITED TO, PLEA BARGAINS AND OTHER CONCESSIONS, PROMISES, OR

BENEFITS BESTOWED UPON THE PROSECUTION'S WITNESSES

8) At paragraph 43 of his Demand to Produce, Mr. Pigeon requested the

following constitutionally mandated disclosure:

(a) Any information which is in any manner contrary to the
PP~ple'~ th~or; with respect t~ +.he c~msnission ~f the indicted
offenses;

(b) Any evidence that the Defendant did not commit the crimes
charged, or any evidence that the Defendant did not commit
any of the essential elements of a crime charged;

(c) Any evidence including any reports documents or otherwise
which suggest that there was no quid pro quo for the alleged
favors provided by Mr. Pigeon;

(a) Any evidence that the Defendant did not confer, offer, and
agree to confer a benefit in excess of ten thousand dollars
upon John A. Michalek;

(e) Any evidence that there was no agreement or understanding
that John A. Michalek's vote, opinion judgment, action,
decision and exercise of discretion would be influenced;

(fl Any evidence that the Defendant did not knowingly confer,
offer, or agree to confer upon John A. Michalek any assistance
in efforts to recommend appointment to the Appellate Division
for the New York State Supreme Court for the purpose of John
A. Michalek violating his duty as a public servant;



(g) Any evidence that the Defendant did not knowingly confer,
offer, or aa-ee to confer upon John A. Michalek any assistance
in finding employment for Relative 1 for the purpose of John
A. Michalek violating his duty as a public servant;

(h) Any evidence that the Defendant did not knowingly confer,
offer, or agree to confer upon John A. Michalek any hockey
ticket for the purpose of John A. Michalek violating his duty
as a public servant;

(i) Any evidence that the Defendant did not knowingly confer,
offer, or agree to confer upon John A. Michalek any assistance
in fording employment and appointed positions for Relative 2
for the purpose of John A. Michalek violating his duty as a
public servant;

(j) Any evidence that the Defendant did not knowingly confer,
offer, or agree to confer upon John A. Michalek any fundraiser
tickets for the purpose of John A. Michalek violating his duty
as a public servant;

(k) Any facts known to the prosecution_ or any law enforcement
ager~:,y working ire conjunction witr~ the pr~secutior~ ~%hi:,h are
directly contrary to the theory of the prosecution, see People
v. Porter, 128 A.D.2d 248 (1st Dep't), lv. denied, 70 N.Y.2d
936 (1987);

(1) The names of all personnel known to the prosecution who have
knowledge pertaining to this case or who were interviewed by
the authorities in connection with this case, if such knowledge
is exculpatory for defendant or mitigates the allegations
against him;

(m) Specify the exact nature of any information or evidence from
the instant investigation which has been destroyed, lost or
altered;

(n) Any recordings made by any government unit including but
not limited to the F.B.I of John A. Michalek, including those
which the defense was informed by members of the federal
and state prosecution teams, allegedly containing false
statement punishable by federal statute 18 U.S.C. § 1001;

(o) Any statements, transcripts, notes, reports, records, other
information or other documents, in any form, which may
indicate that any prospective prosecution witness has, in the
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course of the investigation undertaken with respect to the
instant matter, given contradictory information or has engaged
in lying, deceitful or otherwise mendacious activity, see Brady
v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); Thomas v. United States, 343
F.2d 49 (9th Cir. 1965);

(p) Any information in any form which may indicate that any
prospective prosecution witness has given information
contradictory to, or materially at variance with information
received from any other source or sources, see People v.
Zimmerman, 10 N.Y.2d 430 (1962); People v. Ambrose, 52
A.D.2d 850 (2d Dep't 1976);

(q) Any information in any form which contradicts information
obtained from any prosecution witness;

(r) The criminal records of any prospective prosecution witnesses
and any information indicating that these witnesses have in the
past perpetrated immoral, vicious or criminal acts, see Giles v.
Maryland, 386 U.S. 66 (1967);

(s) Any information recounting any misidentification or
incansistent testimony regarding any identification ~f ~~.
Pigeon or any information indicating a failure on the part of
any individual to identify Mr. Pigeon, see Brady, supra;
Thomas, supra•,

(t) Any information which in any manner undermines the
credibility of any prosecution witness;

(u) Any information which may tend to indicate that any potential
prosecution witness has been charged with, or convicted of,
any criminal charge;

(v) Any information tending to indicate that any potential
prosecution witness has been or is being investigated for
illegal activities by any law enforcement officials;

(w) Any information which may indicate that any potential
prosecution witness was motivated to cooperate with the
authorities b~ a desire either to avoid being prosecuted or to
procure a plea to a reduced charge;

(x) Any information regarding plea bargain deals or agreements
that were made with John A. Michalek, including agreements
or understandings not to charge him or members of his family
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with federal or state charges, including agreements not to
charge John A. Michalek with the several federal felonies
under 18 U.S.C. § 1001 which the prosecution team
represented to defense counsel had been committed by John
A. Michalek;

(y) Any information or agreements not to charge or prosecute
Edward A. Betz or members of his family that were made to
him;

(z) Any information which may indicate that the cooperation of
any potential prosecution witness was induced by a threat,
express or implied, that unless such cooperation was
forthcoming, the potential witness would be prosecuted;

(aa) Any information which may indicate that any potential
prosecution witness has engaged in an erratic course of
behavior or has in the past made false or misleading
statements;

(bb) Any information which may indicate that the instant
prosecution is based on or derived from evidence acquired as
a result of gavzrnm~n~al a~ti~r~ ~%riiiri iTiay YIaVC ~'i~Cii Vivl~tilVC
of constitutional standards. This request expressly
encompasses any information which might affect the Court's
decision on a suppression issue in a fashion favorable to the
defendant, see People v. Geaslen, 54 N.Y.2d 510, 516 (1981);

(cc) Any information, documentation andlor other evidence which
tends to show that any prospective prosecution witness could
reasonably be considered to be an accomplice to any offense
alleged in this indictment;

(dd) Any information as to any prospective prosecution witness
having a history of mental or emotional disturbance;

(ee) Any evidence or information as to prior charged or uncharged
instances of criminal conduct by any prospective prosecution
witness, including a copy of any and all charges, accusatory
instruments, police reports, transcripts of proceedings, etc;

(f~ Any information which may indicate that any prospective
prosecution witness was under the influence of alcohol,
medication or any drug at or near the time of the events
charged in the indictment or at or near the time of the events
about which the potential witness may be called to testify;
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(gg) Any evidence that any alleged victim or any witness suffers,
or at any time suffered, from any type of head or brain injury
which might affect the person's accuracy, perception or
comprehension with respect to the incidents in question; in
addition, any evidence that any complainant, any alleged
victim ar any material witness, at any time, sought or received
professional treatment for such head or brain injury is
requested, see People v. Reusing, 14 N.Y.2d 210 (1964);
People v. Lowe, 96 Misc.2d 33 (Brorix Cnty. Crim, Ct. 1978);
see also People v. Baier, 73 A.D.2d 649 (2d Dept. 1979);

(hh) Any statements, admissions and/or confessions provided by
any individual indicating that they were responsible for the
acts alleged in the indictment: specify the name and address of
any such individual.; and

(ii) Any other information or evidence, regardless of whether it is
admissible at a trial, which could be used to impeach a
prospective prosecution witness.

9) At page 17 of the People's Response to Defendant's Demand to Produce, the

People responded that they are aware of their continuing duty under Brady to disclose exculpatory

evidence to the defense and would honor that obligation. However, to date, the defense has received

no such evidence.

10) Notably, the People's obligation under Brady requires them to provide such

evidence to the defense in time for its effective use at trial. See Leka v. Portuondo, 257 F.3d 89, 98-

103 (2d Cir. 2001).

11) In this case, defense counsel met with members of the Attorney General's

prosecution team and federal prosecutors during which defense counsel was informed that former

justice John A. Michalek was secretly recorded by members of the Federal Bureau of Investigation

("F.B.I") and that during those recorded conversations, former justice John A. Michalek was

questioned about matters relating to the instant charges. Moreover, defense counsel learned that, on

several occasions, former justice John A. Michalek made false statements in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
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100 L Undoubtedly, defense counsel is entitled to know whether federal prosecutors agreed to refrain

from charging him with violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, as well as other offenses. Counsel is also

entitled to be given these alleged false statements for impeachment purposes.

12) Similarly, defense counsel is entitled to know what, if any, promises were

made regarding non-prosecution of family members of any of the People's witnesses, and what, if

any, promises were made to the attorney who is the subject of Count Nine.

13) In short, all deals, plea bargains, promises, etc., must be disclosed. When the

People's case depends in part on testimony of a witness who was named as a coconspirator, but

was not indicted, and without such testimony there could have been no indictment and no evidence

to carry a case to a jury, such witness's credibility is an important issue in the case, and evidence

of any understanding or agreement as to future prosecution is relevant to such witness's credibility

and a jury i~ entitled t:, ~~aw :,f it. Sec Peaple v. ~igli~, ~C~ ~.S. 150, 154 ~1~72~.

14) As the Court is aware, the defense is entitled to, and the People must disclose,

the existence of any and all material that may be exculpatory; which may reasonably tend to prove

favorable to Mr. Pigeon with respect to an ultimate determination of guilt or innocence upon the trial

of this case; which may be utilized to impeach any prosecution witness; or which may be favorable

to Mr. Pigeon with respect to the severity of any sentence to be imposed in the event of ultimate

conviction of any of the charges. See Brady, supra, see also Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419 (1995);

United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985); United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976); People

v. Vilardi, 76 N.Y.2d 67 (1990); People v. Geaslen, 54 N.Y.2d 510 (1981). Disclosure is required

even when the evidence is neither competent evidence nor admissible at trial. See United States

v. Gleason, 265 F. Supp. 880, 886 (S.D.N.Y. 1967).
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15) As the Court of Appeals has explained, it is "firmly established that the

`existence of an agreement between the prosecution and a witness, made to induce the testimony

of the witness, is evidence which must be disclosed under Brady principles." People v. Novoa, 70

N.Y.2d 490, 496 (1987) (collecting cases). "It is not the form of a promise, or any label the parties

may affix to it, that triggers the prosecutor's duty of disclosure." Id. at 497. Instead, "the

obligation arises" when "the prosecutor and the witness have reached an understanding in which

the witness's cooperation has been exchanged for some quid pro quo on the part of the prosecutor."

Id. "The significance of a promise" is irrelevant to the disclosure obligation. Id. Any promise

must be disclosed. Moreover, the terms of a cooperation agreement between a witness and a

prosecutor must be disclosed. Id. at 498.

16) Furthermore, prosecutors must disclose any agreements made between a

:~~itness and other prase:,utars ~f that same affice. Ir~de~~, "[p]rcm~ises ma3c tc a ~efen3ant by :,ne

prosecutor are generally binding on others in the criminal law enforcement system and certainly

promises made by a superior are binding on subordinates in the same office." People v. Steadman,

82 N.Y.2d 1, 8 (1993) (reversing conviction for failure to disclose existence of agreement between

a witness and the trial prosecutor's supervisor, even though the trial prosecutor had no knowledge

of the agreement). Notably, the Court has suggested that knowledge of the existence of any

cooperation agreements made between a witness and prosecutors from other offices should be

disclosed. Cf. Novoa, 70 N.Y.2d at 498.

17) It is respectfully submitted that the Court direct the People to submit answers

to each specific request contained in the Discovery Demand at ¶ 43, rather than allowing their blanket

response stating that they are aware of their obligation (with no commitment as to whether or when

they intend to fulfill their obligation).
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18) Mr. Pigeon respectfully requests that the Court issue an Order compelling the

People to disclose all requested constitutionally mandated information or to specify the grounds for

their denial to each demand.

III

MOTION TO COMPEL DISCLOSURE OF WARRANTS

19) At paragraph's 26 and 27 of his Demand to Produce, Mr. Pigeon requested

the following information: "any and all warrants issued relating to the investigation, and any

application, return of inventory associated with any warrant."

20) At page 10 of the People's Response to Defendant's Demand to Produce, the

People indicated that they do not intend to produce the requested information, as it is, in their opinion,

"beyond the scope of C.P.L. §240.20."

21) Thy Peaple's response does nat Damply with the ease law are its ~i~~lv~u~c

obligations.

22) In People v. Castillo, 80 N.Y.2d 578 (1992), the Court of Appeals

announced that, when a court reviews a request for a search warrant application, it must adhere to

a four-step procedure to determine whether to grant or deny the request that was first set forth in

People v. Seychel, 136 Misc.2d 310 (N.Y. Cnty. Sup. Ct. 1987). As required under that analysis:

First, the court will review the search warrant to determine whether
probable cause appears to be alleged on its face or whether there is
any reason to believe, initially, that the warrant is facially perjurious.
To allege probable cause, a search warrant must satisfy the Aquilar-
Spinelli two-prong test: 1) the affiant must set forth the reasons
which led him to conclude that the informant was reliable, and 2)
the affiant must relate the facts and circumstances relied on by the
informer in reaching his conclusions. If the warrant is insufficient
on its face, the evidence obtained from it will be suppressed. If the
warrant appears to be facially perjurious, the court will conduct a
hearing, initially in camera, to determine if any of the information
contained therein was perjurious. If so, the court will order that the
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affidavit be turned over to defense counsel prior to conducting
a Franks/Alfinito hearing, if appropriate. Prior to such disclosure,
the People will be given an opportunity to elect to discontinue the
prosecution. The protection sought by the People must yield to the
overriding consideration of avoiding the risk of convicting the
innocent. In this case, the warrant contains details about the
defendant's criminal activity and possession of contraband and the
arresting officer verified the informant's reliability concerning
previous information given. In addition, the court has examined the
affidavit and it does not appear perjurious on its face.

The second step is an in camera, ex parte inquiry of the informant

and examination of pertinent exhibits in order to evaluate the

People's claim that the informant's life and/or future investigations

would be jeopardized by disclosure. Where an undercover officer

still operates in the community, other narcotics investigations are

still pending, and other targets of the investigation are at large, thus

jeopardizing the informant if his identity were disclosed, then such

information shall remain privileged. If the informant and/or any

future investigations are not endangered by revealing the contents

of the search warrant, then the court will order disclosure of the

affidavit.

The third step in this procedure involves attempting to redact the

privileged portions of the search warrant affidavit, assuming the

court is convicted that nondisclosure is necessary. If the information

describing the circumstances which led to the defendant's arrest can

be redacted so as not to reveal the identity of the informant and the

document would remain essentially intact, then the confidential

material will be redacted and defense counsel will receive the

modified version. This may not be possible in many cases and, after

careful examination, the court finds that the affidavit in this case

cannot be redacted.

The fourth and final step, if necessary after the first three steps, is to

conduct an ex parte, in camera, Darden-type hearing. Here, the

People are ordered to produce the informant for a hearing. Without

defense counsel present, the court will evaluate the credibility of the

informant as to the information contained in the warrant. To assist

the court in making this determination, defense counsel may submit

any relevant questions for the court to ask the informant. The court
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will make a sealed record and summarize the information for

defense counsel.

23) Turning to the instant prosecution, the People provided defense counsel

with a copy of the search warrant authorizing the search of Mr. Pigeon's premises (a true and

correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit G), but have failed to disclose the documents

underlying that warrant, such as the supporting affidavit. Moreover, the defense recently learned

that the People conducted a search of Mr. Pigeon's cellular telephone. Such a search cannot be

conducted without a search warrant authorizing the search. See Riley v. California, 573 U.S. ,

134 S.Ct. 2473, 2485 (2014). The People have not provided or mentioned the e~stence of a search

warrant sought and obtained to execute a lawful search of Mr. Pigeon's cellular telephone.

24) Under these circumstances, the prosecution has not complied with the

dictates of Castillo. At the very least, the prosecution must seek a protective order setting forth

with particularity why the People believe that future investigations may be jeopardized by

disclosure of these requested documents.

25) In the absence of such a motion, we specifically request that the Court

provide to the defense the search warrants as well as the full affidavits together with any notes

which relate to the application or the issuance of the search warrants. Here there are potentially

several such documents. The Defendant's residence was searched as was his cellular telephone

and text messages. There is no basis to withhold each and every application from the defense,

particularly because such withholding violates the Defendant's Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth

Amendment rights under the United States Constitution, and his corresponding rights secured

under the New York State Constitution.
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IV

MOTION TO CONTROVERT THE SEARCH WARRANT

26) C.P.L. § 690.15 provides that a search warrant must designate a search of

either a place, vehicle, or person. This provision codifies the constitutional protection secured under

the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution (and Article 1, § 12 of the New York

State Constitution) that a search warrant describe with "particularity ...the place to be searched

and the persons or things to be seized." U.S. Const. amend IV.

27) The Defendant moves to suppress from use directly or indirectly as evidence

against him at trial, pursuant to C.P.L. § 710.20(1), any and all evidence seized and obtained in

violation of the rights of the accused under the New York Constitution and the Fourth Amendment

of the United States Constitution.

~g~ h~~ar~ingly, a TTI~tiOil 1S ~lET'2by i13aC~~ YUT'SilaIIt iii r~i2"t1~~2 i i~i of i~lc

Criminal Procedure Law.

29) The limitation requiring the warrant to describe with particularity the place

to be searched, safeguards an individual's privacy interests against the "wide ranging exploratory

searches the Framers intended to prohibit." Maryland v. Garrison, 480 U.S. 79, 84 (1987).

30) In Andersen v. Maryland, 427 U.S. 463, 480 (1976) the Court stated that the

particularity requirement prevents the search of one place under a warrant which describes another.

As a general rule, a warrant must describe the places to be searched with such sufficient

particularity as to leave nothing to the discretion of the officer who executes the warrant. See

Anderson, supra 427 U.S. at 480.

31) The defense maintains that the warrant authorizing the search of Mr. Pigeon's

residence, as well as any of his electronic devices, was overly broad. The warrant begins by
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authorizing the search of the home office of Mr. Pigeon, which is located on the seventh floor of the

building located at 1003 Admirals Walk. At some point, unknown to the defense, the warrant was

modified by hand to include the residence of Mr. Pigeon and the location was changed to the tenth

floor at 1003 Admirals Walk. These alterations were accompanied by the initials "MP" which,

presumably, were written there by the Honorable Michael Pietruszka, who signed the warrant in its

original form. However, there is no indication as to when these changes were made or if the search

was conducted prior to the changes. Simply, the warrant's description of the "PREMISES," is

insufficiently particular such as to describe the place to be searched.

32) The warrant further authorizes the blanket search of any "documents" or

"financial" records whether in hard copy or electronic form relating to Mr. Pigeon's lobbying on

behalf of a named individual and his involvement in the Western New York Progress Caucus. The

warrant in no way gimmes any cxplanatian as to what i~ ~neaiit by iVlr. Pi~c~~i's "lut~byi~g" ar

"involvement" in the caucus. Again, this directive is overly broad and subject to the interpretation of

the executing officer.

33) Equally problematic is that the defense has learned that Mr. Pigeon's cellular

telephone was searched; however, the defense has not been provided any search warrant authorizing

such a search. The unfettered search of any electronic devices would be overly broad. Computer and

cell phone capacity allows for the storage of millions of items and computers and cell phones provide

a "digital record of nearly every aspect of their lives." Riley v. California, 573 U.S. , 134 S.Ct.

2473, 2490 (2014). Greater specificity would be required if such a search warrant exists. (Again, as

set forth above, the defense has no information as to whether this search was conducted, as required,

pursuant to a valid search warrant. Id. at 2485.)
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34) In sum, the search warrant, which allowed for the unfettered search of Mr.

Pigeon's apartment and electronic devices was overly broad. Where, as here, the search warrant

was not particularized, the warrant must be controverted. For example, in People v. Darling, 95

N.Y.2d 530 (2000), the Court of Appeals reiterated the need for search warrants to meet the

constitutionally mandated particularity requirement, holding that:

The particularity requirement reinforces the Constitutional designs
by which the judge and not the officer fixes the scope of the search.
To minimize evasiveness, the Fourth Amendment requires that the
judge's directive be specific enough to leave no discretion to the
executing officer.

Id. at 537 (citing Andersen v. Maryland, 427 U.S. 463, 480 (1976); Marron v. United States, 275

U.S. 192, 196 (1927); People v. Nieves, 36 N.Y.2d 396, 401 (1975)).

35) Moreover, particularity must be established at the time the warrant is issued

s:, that the e~ecutin~ :,ffi~cr ~ar~ reasonably as~ertair~ anu ~~~ntify the persons anu places

authorized to be searched and the things authorized to be seized to protect the right of privacy from

arbitrary police intrusion. In essence, the "core" of the Fourth Amendment leaves nothing to the

discretion of the executing officer.

36) Furthermore, the defense must be provided with the submissions to any

judicial officer so that the Defendant can enjoy the effective assistance of counsel in maintaining

to the Court that the required probable cause was not legally established to justify the search.

37) Additionally, counsel must review these documents to determine whether

they contain any false statements as encompassed in Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978).

38) Since counsel has been advised that various text messages, emails, the

contents of Mr. Pigeon's computer, and other electronic communications have been obtained as

well, a determination must be made if such were obtained under the authority of a warrant, or
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whether they were obtained in the absence of a warrant and are thereby presumptively

unconstitutional. For example, if the contents of the Defendant's cellular telephone was obtained

without specific, valid, warrant authority, such information must be suppressed.

39) The Defendant moves for suppression of any and all evidence seized in

violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the corresponding

provision of the New York State Constitution.

40) Further the Defendant moves for disclosure of each and every document

which purports to support any such search and seizure, and any record or transcript of any

proceedings before an issuing judge, including any record of the proceeding which lead to the

alteration or amendment of the warrant to reflect a different residence.

41) Only by disclosing these materials can the Defendant enjoy the effective

assi~tan~e of counsel and Fu11y and cunlpl~t~ly cball~nge trie iegalit-y of the s~izur-es w~lich the

prosecution intends to, and has utilized, in this case.

42) Finally, Defendant moves for a hearing to determine the circumstances

under which the warrant was amended andlor altered to reflect a new address.

43) For reasons set forth herein, any evidence gained from a search of the

Defendant's residence and effects including his cellular telephone and computer must be

suppressed and the information sought by Defendant, including a hearing on the

amendment/alteration of the warrant must be granted.

u

MOTION TO COMPEL DISCLOSURE OF JURISDICTIONAL DOCUMENTS

44) At paragraph 41 of his Demand to Produce, Mr. Pigeon requested the

following information: "Any and all documents related to the Attorney General's authority to
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prosecute this case under Executive Law §63 including but not limited to the referral source and

all documents and records justifying that referral."

45) At page 16 of the People's Response to Defendant's Demand to Produce, the

People respond that the defendant has not cited any legal authority for the items requested under the

heading of Miscellaneous Discovery and the defendant's request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20.

46) Mr. Pigeon respectfully requests that the Court issue an Order compelling the

People to disclose all requested jurisdictional material or to specify the grounds for their denial to the

demand.

47) The Attorney General must disclose the documents upon which he bases his

jurisdiction to prosecute Mr. Pigeon. "[T]he Attorney General has ... no power to prosecute

crimes unless specifically permitted by law." People v. Cuttita, 7 N.Y.3d 500, 507 (2006); accord

Feo~le v. Royiiero, ̀ ~i 'iv.i'.2~ i.SQ, i.`~4 ~l`~gg~ ("[T]11c Attirl'I'icy-Ge112I'ai ~Ia~ ilu ~cllc~ia~

authority and is without any prosecutorial power except when specifically authorized by statute."

(quotation omitted, emphasis in original)). Moreover, the power of the Attorney General to appear

before a grand jury "must be triggered by statutory authority." L&S Hosp. & Inst. Supplies Co.,

Inc. v. Hynes, 84 Misc.2d 431, 434 (N.Y. Cnty. Sup. Ct. 1975). Indeed, "if the Attorney General

lacks power to prosecute a defendant, any resulting indictment must be dismissed." Cuttita, 7

N.Y.3d at 507; Romero, 91 N.Y.2d at 754-58 (dismissing indictment on the ground that the statute

upon which the Attorney General based his jurisdiction did not provide for such jurisdiction and

"[a]s a result, the Attorney-General had no authority and could not prosecute defendant for the

crimes in this case").

48) The Attorney General's authority to prosecute is statutorily derived from a

reference (i. e. , a written request) from a State agency or other public official. The Attorney
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General's authority to investigate, appear before a grand jury, and prosecute is limited to precisely

the subject matter specified in the reference from the referring State agency or official. See

Additional Jan. 1979 Grand Jury v. Doe, 50 N.Y.2d 14, 18 (1980) ("The scope of [the Attorney

General's] authority is limited to those matters relating to, or in any way connected with, the

subject matter contained in the investigatory file referred to in the executive order."); accord In re

Cranford Material Corp., 174 Misc. 154 (Kings Cnty. Sup. Ct. 1940) ("[T]he duty of the attorney

general is limited to the management of such criminal actions or proceedings as shall be specified

in such [reference]." (quotation omitted)).

49) Similarly, the Court of Appeals has recognized that "the Attorney-General

...should never be permitted to expand unilaterally the scope of his authority by increasing the

file to encompass matters not included therein at the time the executive order was issued." Doe,

50 i`.~i.Y.2d at 18 (emphasis addct~ j. i~riC~zP Su~ri ~ir~uil2~tal1~CS, C;~u1~tS ~u ilvt ri~~ltiltC to c~1SIIli~S

indictments due to the Attorney General's lack of authority to prosecute. See People v. Hopkins,

182 Misc. 313, 317 (N.Y. Cnty. Ct. 1944) (dismissing information against defendant because "the

subject matter of the indictment was without scope of the authority conferred upon [the Attorney

General] by the governor"); accord People v. Dorsey, 176 Misc. 932, 933-42 (Queens Cnty. Ct.

1941) (dismissing indictment because the Attorney General presented evidence to a grand jury

about a defendant's alleged perjury which was not specifically connected with the subject matter

of the investigation for which the reference was made).

50) Notably, when the Attorney General's authority is challenged, the State

bears the burden of demonstrating that the reference at issue gave the Attorney General the

authority to prosecute. See People v. Gilmour, 98 N.Y.2d 126, 132-35 (2002) (affirming reversal

of conviction because the Attorney General lacked the authority to prosecute). To determine
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whether the Attorney General had the requisite authority to obtain an indictment, courts review the

reference underlying the investigation. Indeed, when the "investigation was not activated by the

request of a proper State officer ...the indictment must be dismissed." People v. Fox, 253 A.D.2d

192, 195 (3d Dep't 1999) (dismissing indictment because the reference did not provide the

Attorney General with the authority to prosecute the crimes indicted).

51) As the foregoing demonstrates, the jurisdiction of the Attorney General in

the instant prosecution may be insufficient for any number of reasons. Mr. Pigeon must have the

ability to review the documents on which the Attorney General bases his jurisdiction to prosecute

to determine whether a motion for dismissal of the indictment for lack of jurisdiction is merited.

For that reason, the Attorney General's withholding of this otherwise ministerial information is

unduly prejudicial to Mr. Pigeon. Indeed, jurisdiction is such a fundamental issue to any

yTvS2~Ut1G11 t~'iai ii ~ar~r~~~ ~'i~ ̀ v`%aiv2~. .~iee Fvi, G~j t'1.D.L~ at ~~~ ~T'~C;~~111[,111~ tJ~IdC "~~lC 1-1~~1~ ~U

be prosecuted on a valid accusatory instrument is a nonwaivable jurisdiction prerequisite"

(alteration omitted)); see also People v. Olivero, 49 A.D.3d 1208, 1208 (4th Dept 2008) ("[A]

defendant's jurisdictional challenge survives both a guilty plea and a waiver of the right to

appeal."). A fortiori, the documents establishing the Attorney General's jurisdiction (or, as Mr.

Pigeon suspects, the lack thereo f must be disclosed to Mr. Pigeon because he should not be forced

to defend himself against charges for which the prosecution has identified no authority to

prosecute.

52) As the Court of Appeals has explained, "where a prosecutor lacks the

requisite authority he is not a proper person before the Grand Jury and those proceedings conducted

by him before the Grand Jury are defective." People v. DiFalco, 44 N.Y.2d 482, 486 (1978)

(affirming dismissal of indictment because the special prosecutor lacked the statutory authority to
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prosecute the defendant). The Attorney General has provided no reason for declining Mr. Pigeon's

demand nor can they because the disclosure of jurisdiction-related documents, such as reference

letters, are critical to a defendant's ability to raise a challenge to an issue so fundamental to any

prosecution that it remains at issue even after a defendant pleads guilty.

VI

MOTION FOR SUPPLEMENTAL DISCOVERY

53) Pursuant to C.P.L. § 240.20, the Defendant requests that the People disclose

and or make available for inspection and copying the following:

(a) Any and all text messages, e-mails, phone calls and phone messages
sent or received by Steven Pigeon to anyone regarding the current
charges, including computer contents.

VII

MOTION TO DISMISS INDICTMENT FOR FACIAL INSUFFICIENCY

54) Mr. Pigeon moves, pursuant to C.P.L. § 210.20, for dismissal of the Indictment

because the Indictment fails to satisfy the requirements for facial sufficiency set forth in C.P.L. §

200.50(7).

55) To be considered facially sufficient, an indictment must contain "[a] plain and

concise factual statement in each count which ...asserts facts supporting every element of the

offense charged and the defendant's or defendants' commission thereof with sufficient precision

to clearly apprise the defendant or defendants of the conduct which is the subject of the

accusation." C.P.L. § 200.50(7)(a).

56) This statutory threshold for factual sufficiency is grounded in fundamental

notions of fairness. As the Court of Appeals explained:

A criminal indictment serves three purposes. First, it provides the
defendant with fair notice of the accusations made against him, so
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that he will be able to prepare a defense. Second, the indictment
provides some means of ensuring that the crime for which the
defendant is brought to trial is in fact one for which he was indicted
by the Grand Jury, rather than some alternative seized upon by the
prosecution. Finally, an indictment protects a criminal defendant
from prosecution at another time for the same offense. Therefore,
an indictment must allege the crime charged with sufficient
specificity to enable the defendant, once convicted, to raise the
constitutional bar of double jeopardy against subsequent
prosecutions for the same offense.

People v. Sanchez, 84 N.Y.2d 440, 445 (1994) (citations and quotations omitted). "The

determination of whether sufficient specificity to adequately prepare a defense has been provided

to a defendant by the indictment and the bill of particulars must be made on an ad hoc basis by

consideration all the relevant circumstances." Id. (alteration omitted).

57) Turning to the instant prosecution, the Indictment falls woefully shy of the

requisite specificity. None of the nine charges against Mr. Pigeon provide any factual detail

regarding the quid pro quo that constitutes the basis of the particular charge. For example, Count

One simply states that in exchange for a benefit, at times vaguely identified, former judge John A.

Michalek, a public servant, acted "upon an agreement and understanding that such public servants

[sic] vote, opinion[,] judgment, action, decision and exercise of discretion ...would thereby be

influenced." Count Two sets forth equally insufficient factual detail. Moreover, other charges,

such as Counts Three through Nine, simply state that former judge John. A. Michalek agreed to

"violate[] his duty as a public servant" in exchange for a vaguely defined benefit.

58) Mr. Pigeon and defense counsel are left to speculate as to the factual

underpinnings of those charges. Such speculation results in defense counsel being unable to

adequately prepare for trial. Further, defense counsel will have no means of ensuring that the

crimes for which the defendant is brought to trial are those that the Grand Jury indicted. Finally,

such speculation renders Mr. Pigeon's protection from double jeopardy a useless.
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59) Indeed, this speculation is compounded by the fact that the prosecution has

denied numerous requests for factual specificity contained in Defendant's Demand for a Bill of

Particulars, as discussed in greater detail below.

60) Under these circumstances, the Court of Appeals has not hesitated to deem an

indictment factually insufficient. See Sanchez, 84 N.Y.2d at 445-47 (affirming reversal of larceny

convictions on the ground that the larceny charges were facially insufficient); see also People v.

Fernandez, 93 Misc.2d 127, 135-36 (Queens Cnty. Crim. Term 1978) (dismissing indictment on

ground that "the indictment charges that defendants committed an illegal act, but merely in the

verbiage of the statute" and "[s]uch constitutes a mere conclusory and non-factual allegation,"

which is "legally insufficient").

61) For all these reasons, Mr. Pigeon respectfully moves, pursuant to C.P.L. §

210.20, far dismissal ~f the Ir~~ictment b~caus~ tree Indictr~~en~ fails to ~ati~~y the requirci~~~iits iui=

facial sufficiency set forth in C.P.L. § 200.50(7) and as articulated by the Court of Appeals.

VIII

MOTION TO COMPEL COMPLIANCE WITH THE DEMANDS CONTAINED IN
DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR A BILL OF PARTICULARS

62) Pursuant to Criminal Procedure Law § 200.95, Mr. Pigeon served a request

for a Bill of Particulars on the People. In that request, Mr. Pigeon sought, among other things,

detailed information on the quid pro quo alleged with respect to each count in the Indictment.

63) In their response, the People asserted a blanket denial of Mr. Pigeon's

demands for information on the allegations pertaining to the specific quid pro quo for each count,

contending that such information was beyond the scope of C.P.L. § 200.95.

64) Under Criminal Procedure Law § 200.95(5), "[w]here a prosecutor has

timely served a written refusal pursuant to subdivision four of this section and upon motion, made
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in writing, of a defendant, who has made a request for a bill of particulars and whose request has

not been complied with in whole or in part, the court must, to the extent a protective order is not

warranted, order the prosecutor to comply with the request if it is satisfied that the items of factual

information requested are authorized to be included in a bill of particulars, and that such

information is necessary to enable the defendant adequately to prepare or conduct his defense."

65) The prosecution has not moved for a protective order preventing disclosure

of the information Defendant sought regarding the quid pro quo allegations with respect to each

count of the Indictment.

66) Defendant must obtain this requested information to adequately prepare his

defense. The instant prosecution is a complex white-collar crime involving nine counts. The

disclosure of such information will enable Defendant to adequately provide his defense and to

avoid trial by surprise. Mor~ov~r, such information wi11 enable Defendant to l nau%ingly evaluate

whether to evaluate whether to plead or proceed to trial. Accordingly, Mr. Pigeon hereby moves

pursuant to C.P.L. § 200.95 for an order from this Court compelling the People to comply with the

demands contained in Mr. Pigeon's Request for a Bill of Particular pertaining to the quid pro quo

allegations with respect to each count in the Indictment.

IX

MOTION FOR PRECLUSION OF IDENTIFICATION
EVIDENCE FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH C.P.L. § 710.30

67) The prosecution served Defendant with a notice pursuant to C.P.L. § 710.30

indicating that the prosecution intends to offer at trial testimony "identifying the Defendants) as

a persons) who committed the offense charged by witnesses who have identified him/her as such

prior to arrest/trial." (See Exhibit F.)
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68) The notice states:

2. Photograph Identification: November 18, 2013
confirmatory identification by four witnesses in the Grand
Jury at 350 Main Street, Buffalo, New York.

69) The skeletal notice provided on this form failed to satisfy the requirements

of C.P.L. § 710.30(1)(b), as well as the dictates set forth by the Court of Appeals in People v.

Lopez, 84 N.Y.2d 425 (1994).

70) Under C.P.L. § 710.30(1):

Whenever the People intend to offer at trial (b) testimony
regarding an observation of the defendant either at the time or place
of the commission of the offense or upon some other occasion
relevant to the case, to be given by a witness who has identified him
as such, they must serve upon the defendant a notice of such
intention, specifying the evidence intended to be offered.

C.P.L. § 710.30(1) (emphasis added).

62) In People v. Lopez, supra, the Court of Appeals reviewed a C.P.L. § 710.30

notice that was remarkably similar to the instant notice, finding that it failed to satisfy the

requirements of C.P.L. § 710.30, thereby precluding the prosecution from admission of the

evidence.

63) The Lopez Court began its analysis "by restating that C.P.L. § 710.30 is a

Notice Statute intended to facilitate a defendant's opportunity to challenge before trial the

voluntariness of statements made by him and the reliability of his identification by others." Id. at

428 (citations omitted). Importantly the Court advised:

Manifestly, a defendant cannot challenge that of which he lacks
knowledge, thus the statute requires that the notice "[specify] the
evidence intended to be offered" (CPL §710.30[1]). The notice
served by the People in this case informed Lopez that the People
intended to offer oral and written statements and identification
evidence but failed to specify the evidence as the statute commands.
The People were required to inform defendant of the time and place
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the oral or written statements were made and of the sum and
substance of those statements (see, People v. Bennett, 56, N.Y.2d
837; People v. LaPorte, 184 A.D.2d 534, 535, lv. denied, 77 N.Y.2d
961). Full copies of the statements need not be supplied but they
must be described sufficiently so that the defendant can intelligently
identify them. Similarly, the People were also required to inform
defendant of the time, place and manner in which the identification
was made.

Id. at 428 (emphasis added.

64) The instant form notices fail to sufficiently inform Mr. Pigeon of the "Time,

place and manner" of the purported identifications. The "times" are not specified whatsoever in

the notice. The defense is left to speculate - -and that speculation is exactly what C.P.L. § 710.30

is designed to prevent.

65) Most significantly, the notice fails to set forth the identity of the individuals

who are alleged to have made the identification. As the Court in Lopez expressly recognized, "a

defendant cannot challenge that of which he lacks knowledge." People v. Lopez, supra, at 428.

Obviously, the defense cannot even begin to challenge an identification procedure when the

identity of the individuals who made the purported identifications have been withheld by the

prosecution.

66) To comply with specificity requirements of this section, notices of intention

to use identification evidence at trial must contain, at a minimum, the names of the witnesses who

made the identification and their relationship to the defendant or the case. See People v. Fort, 109

Misc. 2d 990 (1981). It is fundamentally unfair to divest Mr. Pigeon of the opportunity to

adequately challenge the identification procedure by depriving him of the identification of those

individuals who claim to have identified him.

67) The prosecution has clearly not met its statutory obligation and should be

precluded from utilizing identification testimony at trial.
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68) Thus, the failure to comply with the dictates of C.P.L. § 710.30 requires

that this evidence be precluded from introduction at trial, as well as any subsequent in-court

identifications. See People v. O'Doherty, 70 N.Y.2d 479 (1987).

WHEREFORE, Mr. Pigeon respectfully requests that the Court enter an Order

herein precluding any and all identification testimony based upon the People's failure to comply

with C.P.L. § 710.30, as well as subsequent in-court identifications. See People v. Lopez, supra.

~i

MOTION TO COMPEL DISCLOSURE OF PROSECUTION WITNESSES

69) In Defendant's Demand to Produce, dated July 14, 2016, Mr. Pigeon sought:

(b) The names and addresses of all individuals
interviewed with regard to this case.

(c) The names and addresses of all witnesses the
prose~utiar~ intends t~ ca11 as witnzss~s at trial.

(d) The names and addresses of all alleged witnesses to
any conduct which the prosecution claims forms
part of the chain of events of the alleged crime.

70) The People have denied those requests, contending that those demands are

beyond the scope of C.P.L. § 240.20 (and, as pertains to the disclosure of trial witnesses, premature).

71) Similarly, in Defendant's Request for a Bill of Particulars, Mr. Pigeon

requested that the prosecution:

(j) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of
the alleged crime.

72) The People responded, "This request is beyond the scope of CPL section

200.95 and upon information and belief not required to be disclosed at this time."

73) Mr. Pigeon moves to compel the requested disclosures.
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74) The First Department has noted that "Discovery of the names and addresses

of witnesses is a matter which is entrusted to the sound discretion of the Trial Judge." People v.

Rhodes, 154 A.D.2d 279 (1st Dept 1989) (citing People v Andre W., 44 N.Y.2d 179, 185 (1978)).

75) In Andre W., supra, at 184-86, the Court of Appeals held that where there is

"some basis" to believe that the People may possess exculpatory material, a trial court may order

disclosure of the identity of witnesses known to the People.

76) The Indictment in this matter consists of nine counts. Each count is vague and

lists numerous dates and times that the alleged offenses occurred. The conclusory nature of each

count makes it extremely difficult for the Defendant to properly prepare his defense.

77) Pre-trial access to witnesses known to the People will allow Mr. Pigeon the

ability to develop his own investigatory leads and will allow the defense to test for itself whether any

exculpatory evidence may exist.

78) Basic due process principles require that Mr. Pigeon, or those on his behalf,

be able to interview anyone interviewed by law enforcement not only to prepare for his trial but to

conduct his own investigation in preparation for his defense.

79) Because of the complex nature of this case, the names of all witnesses known

to the People should be disclosed so that the due process rights of Mr. Pigeon are protected.

WHEREFORE, Mr. Pigeon respectfully requests that the Court enter an Order

requiring the disclosure of the names and contact information for all witnesses known to the

People.
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MOTION FOR DEFENSE INSPECTION OF GRAND
JURY MINUTES AND DISMISSAL OR REDUCTION

FOR INSUFFICIENCY OF EVIDENCE

80) Sections 210.20-1(b) and 210.30 of the Criminal Procedure Law authorize a

court to dismiss or reduce an indictment when the evidence presented to the grand jury was not legally

sufficient. Section 210.30 also empowers the Court to release the grand jury minutes or portions

thereof:

[i]f the Court, after examining the minutes, finds that release of
the minutes, or certain portions thereof, to the parties is
necessary to assist the Court in making the determination of the
motion ... .

C.P.L. § 210.30-3.

81) In the absence of good cause, a Court must grant a motion to inspect the grand

jury minutes.

82) Deponent requests an Order directing examination of the grand jury minutes

by the Court, and disclosure of the minutes to defense counsel.

83) It is believed that the matter presented to the grand jury relied upon

circumstantial evidence. Therefore, if the prosecution relied upon circumstantial evidence, the grand

jury should have been instructed that unless the circumstantial evidence excluded every hypothesis

but guilt, they must vote a no-bill. See People v. Ford, 66 N.Y.2d 428 (1985).

84) Disclosure of the grand jury minutes is necessary so that the defense may assist

the Court in determining the legal sufficiency of the circumstantial evidence presented to the grand

fury.

85) Also, it is believed that hearsay evidence may have been introduced before the

grand j ury.
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86) As the Court is aware, as a general matter, grand jury proceedings are

governed by the rules applicable at trial. See C.P.L. § 190.30(1). In addition, § 19030 provides that,

subject to a limited number of carefully drawn exceptions, hearsay is inadmissible before the Grand

Jury. See People v. Calero, 163 Misc.2d 13 (N.Y. Cnty. Sup. Ct. 1994) (citing C.P.L. § 190.30(1)).

87) Justice James A. Yates, in writing the opinion for Calero, supra, described the

role of the prosecutor in presenting evidence to the Grand Jury:

In the Grand Jury, the district attorney plays the difficult,
sometimes awkward, role of presenting the case as an
advocate, while, at the same time, making evidentiary rulings
as a legal advisor. For the most part, the prosecutor makes
those evidentiary rulings without the benefit of judicial
oversight or intervention. See, CPL §§ 190.30(6); 190.30(7).
Further, neither the defendant nor his attorney is present during
the presentation to alert the district attorney to evidentiary
errors or to contest potentially erroneous rulings. For all these
reasons, the district attorney, as legal advisor to the Grand
Jury, has a special obligation to adhere scrupulously to the
rules of evidence governing such proceedings. Ct: Van Buren,
supra.

Calero, 163 Misc.2d at 17-18.

88) The Court went on to state:

Thus, where, as here, the Legislature has crafted an exception
to the hearsay rule, the legislation should be strictly construed
lest the district attorney, acting alone in the Grand Jury as
advocate and judge, yield to the temptation to stray beyond the
language of the statute. Admittedly, in a different jurisdiction,
a Grand Jury presentation could be based almost entirely upon
hearsay testimony, as, for example, is the rule and practice in
some Federal prosecutions. See United States v. R.
Enterprises, 498 U.S. 292, 298, 111 S.Ct. 722, 726-27, 112
L.Ed.2d 795 (1991), citing Costello v. United States, 350 U.S.
359, 364, 76 S.Ct. 406, 409, 100 L.Ed. 397 (1956). However,
the Legislature in this State has carefully and sparingly
circumscribed those instances where the normal restrictions
governing hearsay may be avoided in the Grand Jury. See
generally CPL §190.30.
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In light of the above, the People's failure to comply with the
statutory mandate set forth in § 190.30(2) is neither minor nor
technical in nature. The Legislature has manifested a clear
desire to carefully limit the use of hearsay in the Grand Jury
by specifically enumerating those instances where hearsay
evidence, not ordinarily admissible at trial, may nonetheless be
introduced in the Grand Jury. Prosecutors are required to
abide by those rules even in cases, such as this, where statutory
limitations upon an expanded use of hearsay may not be in
their interest as advocates in the Grand Jury. In order to fulfill
legislative expectation against unauthorized expansion of
hearsay in the Grand Jury, reviewing courts must remain
vigilant against improper use of hearsay which is neither
admissible at trial nor permitted by statute.... However, where,
as here, the inadmissible hearsay is the only evidence
supporting a critical element of the offense, representation is
required. See, People v. Avant, 33 N.Y.2d 265, 271, 352
N.Y.S.2d 161, 307 N.E.2d 230 (1973) ("the submission of
some inadmissible evidence during the [Grand Jury
presentation] is held to be fatal only when the remaining legal
evidence is insufficient to sustain the indictment").

Id. at 18 (emphasis added).

89) Defense counsel further requests the dismissal of the Indictment if it is not

founded upon "legally sufficient evidence."

90) Witnesses who testified before the grand jury may have been accomplices as

a matter of law. For instance, former justice John A. Michalek, by his own admission, was involved

in this alleged scheme to influence a public servant. Three relevant statutes mandate that the

testimony of an accomplice be corroborated during a grand jury proceeding.l

C.P.L. § 60.22(1) provides as follows:

A defendant may not be convicted of any offense upon the testimony of an accomplice
unsupported by corroborative evidence tending to connect the defendant with the commission
of such offense.

C.P.L. § 190.65(1) provides:

Subject to the rules prescribing the kinds of offenses which may be charged in an indictment,
a grand jury may indict a person for an offense when (a) the evidence before it is legally
sufficient to establish that such person committed such offense provided, however, such
evidence is not legally sufficient when corroboration that would be required, as a matter of
law, to sustain a conviction for such offense is absent, and (b) competent and admissible
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91) An indictment based upon the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice

cannot be considered legally sufficient. See People v. Berger, 52 N.Y.2d 214 (1981); People v.

Hudson, 51 N.Y.2d 233 (1980); People v. Webster, 123 A.D.2d 488 (3d Dept. 1986). Accordingly,

in the event that insufficient corroboration proof was presented to the grand jury, the Indictment must

be dismissed.

92) Based on the foregoing, defense counsel respectfully requests this Court

conduct an in camera inspection of the grand jury minutes to determine if inadmissible hearsay was

submitted to the grand jury, and that the grand jury minutes be disclosed to the defense in order for

the defense to assist the Court in determining the legal sufficiency of the evidence to be presented to

the grand jury.

WHEREFORE, Mr. Pigeon respectfully requests that the grand jury minutes be

inspected and that the count charged in the Indictment be dismissed or reduced where insufficient

evidence is found; further, it is respectfully requested that the grand jury minutes be disclosed to the

defense in order for the defense to assist the Court in determining the legal sufficiency of the evidence

presented to the grand jury.

/_,~!

MOTION FOR DISMISSAL DUE TO
DEFECTIVE GRAND JURY PROCEEDINGS

93) C.P.L. § 210.20(1)(c) specifically authorizes dismissal of an indictment "or

any count thereof 'when the proceedings before the grand jury were defective. Further, C.P.L. §

evidence before it provides reasonable cause to believe that such person committed such
offense (emphasis added).

Lastly, C.P.L. § 70.10 defines "legally sufficient evidence" as:

Competent evidence which, if accepted as true, would establish every element of an offense
charged and the defendant's commission thereof; except that such evidence is not legally
sufficient when corroboration required bylaw is absent (emphasis added).
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210.35 requires conformity with Article 190 and a failure to conform with Article 190 results in

grand jury proceedings deemed to be defective.

94) C.P.L. § 190.25(6) provides as follows:

The legal advisors of the grand jury are the Court and the district
attorney, and the grand jury may not seek or receive legal advice from
any other source. Where necessary or appropriate, the Court or district
attorney or both must instruct the grand jury concerning the law with
respect to its duties or any matter before it, and such instruction must
be recorded in the minutes.

95) Certainly, under the circumstances of this case, as in all cases, instructions

were necessary in order for the grand jury to properly consider the charges against Mr. Pigeon.

Consequently, an inspection of the grand jury minutes should be conducted and counsel should be

supplied with a copy of the same so that we may assist the Court in determining the sufficiency of the

grand jury proceedings; or, at the very least, the Court should inspect the grand jury minutes in camera

regarding any and all instructions given to the grand jury by the district attorney prior to their service,

during their service, and prior to their rendering a vote in Mr. Pigeon's case for a true bill.

96) This Court should ensure that the prosecutor presented to the grand jury any

relevant exculpatory evidence relating to exculpatory defenses. See People v. Valles, 62 N.Y.2d 36

(1984).

97) If the People failed to present any exculpatory evidence to the grand jury, then

the Indictment should be dismissed due to the defective grand jury proceedings. See People v. Valles,

supra.

98) It is believed that the matter presented before the grand jury relied upon

circumstantial evidence and inadmissible hearsay. Therefore, the instructions before the grand jury

must be reviewed to determine whether sufficient instructions were given regarding circumstantial

evidence and inadmissible hearsay. See People v. Deegan, supra, and People v. Calero, supra.
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99) In addition, sufficient instructions must be given upon the following subjects:

(a) The burden of proof pursuant to C.P.L. § § 190.25, and
70.10;

(b) Defendant's presumption of innocence;

(c) Accomplice corroboration, see C.P.L. §§ 60.22, 70.10
and 190.65; and People v. Webster, 128 A.D.2d 488
(3d Dep't 1986); and

(d) The duty of the grand jury, not the prosecutor, to
determine whether the proof was "legally sufficient,"
People v. Batashure, 75 N.Y.2d 306 (1990).

100) Importantly, disclosure to the defense of the grand jury minutes regarding

instructions will allow the defense to assist the Court in making a proper and knowledgeable

determination of those issues; further, disclosure will not prejudice the People in any significant

manner because no substantive evidence or witness identifications will be revealed. Certainly, the

authorities support our need for this information and authorize a dismissal of the indictment when

inadequate instructions were offered to the Grand Jury. See, e.g., People v. Mackey, 82 Misc.2d 766

(Suffolk Co. Ct. 1975); People v. Ferrara, 82 Misc.2d 270 (Nassau Co. Ct. 1975).

101) It is submitted that this Court should follow the lead of Justice Shapiro, when

writing for a unanimous court in Miranda v. Isseks, 41 A.D.2d 176 (2d Dep't 1973), held:

... we believe it to be the better practice for judges at nisi prius to be most
liberal in granting motions to inspect grand jury minutes to the extent of
examining them in camera for the purpose of determining their sufficiency.

102) Further, defense counsel must review the grand jury minutes to determine

whether there were any unauthorized persons present during the presentation of evidence to the grand

jury. As the defense suspects, the Attorney General may lack the jurisdiction to prosecute the instant

Indictment for any number of reasons. (See, supra, Part .) If the Attorney General lacks the

authority to prosecute the instant Indictment, and if any members of the Attorney General's staff were
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present during the presentation of evidence to the grand jury, Mr. Pigeon is entitled to a dismissal of

the Indictment as the grand jury was defective as a matter of law. See, e.g., People v. Fox, 253 A.D.2d

192, 194 (2d Dep't 1999) (reversing conviction because "the presence of an unauthorized prosecutor

before a Grand Jury ̀ mandates a finding that prejudice to the defendant is likely to result"' (quoting

People v. Di Falco, 44 N.Y2d 482, 485 (1978)).

103) Additional examples of grand jury defects which should be explored in this

case include the following:

(a) Whether this was an entirely new matter considered by
a holdover grand jury. See People v. Williams, 73
N.Y.2d 84 (1989); and

(b) Whether the grand jury was asked to withdraw its vote
for the purpose of receiving additional legal
instructions. See People v. Esposito, 142 Misc.2d 288
(N.Y. Cnty. Sup. Ct. 1989).

WHEREFORE, for the reasons specified above, this Court is respectfully requested

to review the grand jury minutes and dismiss or reduce the count in the Indictment; or, in the

alternative, order that the grand jury minutes be revealed to Mr. Pigeon so that the defense may assist

the Court in making the proper determination.

XIII

MOTION FOR SANDOYAL HEARING

104) In People v. Sandoval, 34 N.Y.2d 371 (1974), the Court of Appeals

determined that a defendant is entitled to a hearing, outside of the presence of the jury, to determine

whether or not certain questions purportedly relating to prior charged or uncharged "bad acts" (i. e. ,

instances of criminal, vicious or immoral conduct evincing moral turpitude) may be properly

utilized by the prosecution when examining witnesses called by the defense, especially the

defendant. In formulating the guidelines for such a determination, the Sandoval Court reasoned
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that only those prior "bad acts" which impeach credibility may be inquired into, and only when

the alleged probative value thereof is not outweighed. by the potential prejudice to be suffered by

the defendant by allowing such inquiry.

105) The People are hereby requested, pursuant to C.P.L. § 240.43, to set forth

each "uncharged" criminal, vicious or immoral act which they intend to use at trial for purposes

of impeaching Mr. Pigeon.

106) Further, with respect to each such act set forth by the People, Mr. Pigeon

requests that a hearing be conducted pursuant to People v. Sandoval, supra.

WHEREFORE, for the reasons set forth above, the People should be compelled to

respond to Mr. Pigeon's C.P.L. § 240.43 demand, and that a hearing should be conducted pursuant to

People v. Sandoval, supra.

XIV

MOTION FOR A MOLINEUX/f~ENTIMIGLIA HEARING

107) Pursuant to People v. Molineux, 168 N.Y. 264 (1901), and People v.

Ventimiglia, 52 N.Y.2d 350 (1981), when the prosecution seeks to introduce at trial evidence of "other

crimes" of a defendant, as evidence-in-chief, the prosecution must first make an offer of proof to the

Court outside of the presence of the jury.

108) Mr. Pigeon requests the immediate disclosure of such Molineux/Ventimiglia

evidence and that pursuant to People v. Ventimiglia, supra, a hearing be conducted wherein the People

must offer the exact evidence that they will endeavor to introduce at trial. Prior to such a hearing, the

People should be compelled to disclose any and all physical evidence, reports, and other documents

relating to such prior bad acts.
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WHEREFORE, the reasons set forth above, the People should be ordered to fully

disclose any Molineux/Ventimiglia evidence which they seek to introduce at trial, and all evidence,

reports, and other such documents relating thereto; further, a hearing should be held pursuant to

People v. Ventimiglia, supra.

XV

OTHER MOTIONS

109) Pending the Court's granting of the relief requested in these papers, the

Defendant respectfully reserves the right to make further and additional motions which may be

required and advisable in light of the Court's ruling or the relief sought herein.

110) Your deponent has endeavored to encompass within the instant pleadings all

prayers for relief which he believes may be properly advanced before trial at this time. Nonetheless,

ii i~ ~11t1T'~1~~ pcssible that as a T'~Si11t :,f the ar~gOlIl~ IiIVcSiigltit'iTiS vT' aS a T2SiI~t ~i t~Ic i~~lci ~iaT'itCu

pursuant to this motion as well as the prosecution responses to the defense discovery demand and

request for bill of particulars, matters will be revealed to your deponent which will necessitate further

applications to this Court.

111) This Court is respectfully requested to entertain at a future date any and all

future motions as may be just and appropriate under the circumstances.

~̀+~_ ~ _

~'~~. ~~ ~

Sworn to before me this 16th day of
Au 016.

1F. PEL ETTERIE
Notary Public, State of New York

Qualified in Erie County ~
My Commission Expires April 30, ~B
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STATE OF NEW YORK COUNTY OF ERIE
SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

-against- INDICTMENT

G. STEVEN PIGEON, File No.: 01177-2016 (SAG)

Defendant.

COUNT ONE

The GRAND JURY OF THE COUNTY OF ERIE, by this indictment, accuses the

defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of Bribery in the Second Degree, in violation of

Penal Law Section 200.03, a class C felony, committed as follows:

The defendant, in the C_'ity of Buffalo end else~~~here :r. the county of Erie, State of Mew

York, in or about February 2012 through in or about Apri12015, conferred, offered, and agreed to

confer a benefit valued in excess of ten thousand dollars upon John A. Michalek, a public servant,

upon an agreement and understanding that such public servant's vote, opinion, judgment, action,

decision and exercise of discretion as a public servant would thereby be influenced.

COUNT TWO

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the

defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime Bribery in the Third Degree, in violation of

Penal Law Section 200.00, a class D felony, committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of Erie, State of New

York, in or about February 2012 through in or about Apri12015, conferred, offered, and agreed to

confer a benefit upon John A. Michalek, a public servant, upon an agreement or understanding that



such public servant's vote, opinion, judgment, action, decision and exercise of discretion as a

public servant would thereby be influenced.

COUNT THREE

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the

defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second

Degree, in violation of Penal Law Section 200.20, a class E felony, committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of Erie, State of New

York, in or about February 2012 through on or about March 16, 2015, fcnowingly conferred,

offered, and agreed to confer upon.John A. Michalek, a public servant, a benefit, namely,

providing assistance in searches for employment for RELATIVE 1, a close relative of John A.

Michalek known to the Grand Jury, for having violated his duty as a public servant.

COUNT FOUR

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the

defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second

Degree, in violation of Penal Law Section 20020, a class E felony, committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of Erie, State of New

York, on or about December 10, 2012, through on or about April 20, 2015, knowingly conferred,

offered, and agreed to confer upon John A. Michalek, a public servant, a benefit, namely,

providing assistance with efforts to be recommended to an appointment to the Appellate Division

for New York State Supreme Court Justice John A. Michalek, for having violated his duty as a

public servant.
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COUNT FIVE

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the

defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second

Degree, in violation .of Penal Law Section 200.20, a class E felony, committed as follows:

The defendant, in the Ciry of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of Erie, State of New

York, on or about February 1, 2013, through on or about February 3, 2013, knowingly conferred,

offered, and agreed to confer upon John A. Michalek, a public servant, a benefit, namely, hockey

tickets, for having violated his duty as a public servant.

COUNT SIX

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the

defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second

Degree, in violation of Penal Law Section 200.20, a class E felony, committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of Erie, State of New

York, on or about March 11, 2013, through on or about March 21, 2013, knowingly conferred,

offered, and agreed to confer upon John A. Michalek, a public servant, a benefit, namely, hockey

tickets, for having violated his duty as a public servant.

COUNT SEVEN

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the

defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second

Degree, in violation of Penal Law Section 200.20, a class E felony, committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of Erie, State of New

York, on or about October 30, 2013, through on or about January 26, 2015, knowingly conferred,



offered, and agreed to confer upon John A. Michalek, a public servant, a benefit, namely,

providing assistance in searches for employment and appointed positions for RELATIVE 2, a

close relative of John A. Michalek known to the Grand Jury, for having violated his duty as a

public servant.

COUNT EIGHT

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the

defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second

Degree, in violation of Penal Law Section 200.20, a class E felony, committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of Erie, State of New

York, on or about November 16, 2013, through on or about November 19, 2013, knowingly

conferred, offered, and agreed to confer upon John A. Michalek, a public servant, a benefit,

namely, a fundraiser ticket, for having violated his duty as a public servant.
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COUNT NINE

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the

defendant G. STEVEN PIGEON, of the crime of Grand Larceny in the Third Degree, in

violation of Penal Law Section 155.35(1), a class D felony, committed as follows:

The defendant, in the City of Buffalo and elsewhere in the County of Erie, State of New

York, on or about August 23, 2012, through on or about March 22, 2013, stole property by

extortion from a person known to the Grand Jury and the value of the property exceeded

$3,000.00.

Dated: c._ ~ G~ i ~` "'s~, ~`!~

-~ j~~ ,
Forepers" n

_~

~ ~t~i~~~~ r'~_ ~ ~i ~1~ tr1_ ~~__,'f F ,;~
ERIC T. SCHNEIDERMAN, ; i
ATTORNEY GENERAL
STATE OF NEW YORK
by: Susan H. Sadinsky
Assistant Attorney General





STATE OF NEW YORK COUNTY OF ERIE
COUNTY COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,

Plaintiff,
DEMAND TO PRODUCE

INDICTMENT No. 01177-2016(SAG)
vs.

G. STEVEN PIGEON,

Defendant.

SIRS:
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the defendant herein, G. STEVEN PIGEON,

hereby demands pursuant to Criminal Procedure Law Section 240.20, that the People shall disclose

and make available for inspection and copying the following, within fifteen (15) days of this

request:

1) Any written, recorded or oral statement of the defendant made, other than in

the course of the criminal transaction, to a public servant engaged in law enforcement activity or to a

person then acting under his direction or in cooperation with him_ This request would include, but is

not be lunited to, the following:

(a) stenographically recorded statements of G. Steven Pigeon;

(b) tape-recorded statements of G. Steven Pigeon;

(c) statements attributed to G. Steven Pigeon, but which are
recorded or memorialized by typed documents purporting to
reflect upon some or all of either questions posed or answers
given by G. Steven Pigeon;

(d) statements attributed to G. Steven Pigeon, but which are
recorded or memorialized by handwritten (cursive or print)



documents purporting to reflect upon some or all of either
questions posed or answers given by Mr. Pigeon;

(e) statements attributed to G. Steven Pigeon which are, in whole
or in part, memorialized by means of video recordings
(including all audio portions, if any);

(fl statements attributed to G. Steven Pigeon which are, in whole
or in part, memorialized by means of audio recordings
(without any video parts); and

(g) statements attributed to G. Steven Pigeon and which are
reflected by documents (including, without limitation, such
items as letters, text messages, e-mails, and the like) which the
People may contend were directly or indirectly authored by G.
Steven. Pigeon

Please note that the requested disclosure of statements attributed to G. Steven Pigeon includes

statements allegedly made to civilians who were cooperating with the authorities. The teml

"cooperating" is broadly construed and is intended in t}us demand to include:

(a) John A. Michalek any and all persons related to John A.
Michalek by blood or marriage (including, but not limited to,
relative 1 and relative 2); and

(b) any and all persons who testified before the grand jury and
who subsequently claimed, at any tinge, that G. Steven Pigeon
thereafter made statements in heir presence which statements
have been made known to the prosecution.

2) Any written, recorded or oral statements which G. Steven Pigeon allegedly

made to civilians, regardless of whether said civilians were acting under the direction of or in

cooperation with law enforcement. Section 710.20(3) CPL and Section 60.45(2)(a) CPL give the

defense the right to explore and litigate the voluntariness and admissibility of statements made to

civilians (even when not acting under the direction of or in cooperation with law enforcement)

because such statements, if the result of threats or "other improper conduct or undue pressure", are

subject to suppression. In order to determine whether or not such motions are appropriate here, the
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defense must be informed of the existence and content of all such statements alleged to have been

made to or in the presence of any civiliarL

3) Any transcript of testimony relating to the criminal acrion or proceeding

pending against the defendant, given by the defendant or any possible co-defendant, before the grand

.1~'-

4) Any charts, diagrams, motion pictures, videotapes, audiotapes, drawings,

sketches or photographs made, acquired or utilized during the investigation which has been conducted

in relation to this prosecution, including but not limited to such items which were made or completed

by a public servant, or made by a person whom the prosecutor intends to call as a witness at trial, or

which the People intend to introduce at trial. This request specifically includes, but is not limited to,

such items that were created and/or discovered during any portion of the instant investigation

including the search of any premises; automobiles or individuals, and any scientific tests ~r

experiments.

5) Any item of "property", which is defined in CPL §240.10(3) as any existing

tangible personal or real property, including but not limited to, books, records, reports, memoranda,

papers, photographs, tapes or other electronic recordings, articles of clothing, fingerprints, blood

samples, fingernail scrapings or handwriting specimens, but excluding attorney's work product, that

was obtained from Mr. Pigeon and/or any premises or vehicle which he purportedly had a proprietary

interest over or which he allegedly exercised any dominion and control.

6) Any photograph, photocopy, audiotape, videotape, film or other reproduction

made by or at the direction of a police officer, peace officer or prosecutor of any property prior to its

release pursuant to the provisions of Section 450.10 of the Penal Law, irrespective of whether the

People intend to introduce the property or the photograph, photocopy or other reproduction at trial.
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7) Any photographs, audiotapes, videotapes or other electronic recordings,

irrespective of whether said recording was made during the course of the criminal transaction or the

investigation relating to the instant indictment, (including but not lunited to, 911 tapes or recordings

of police broadcasts), which were made or completed by a public servant engaged in a law

enforcement activity, or which were made by a person whom the People intend to call as a witness at

trial, or which the People intend to introduce at trial.

8) Any and all negatives which correspond to any and all photographs taken with

regazd to this matter.

Scientific or Technical Materials

9) Any report, document, note, audiotape, videotape, photograph andJor other

written material, or portion thereof, which relates in any fashion to a physical or mental examination

or to a test or experiment, regardless of whether the prosecu~iQn intends to introduce it at trial, ~vhich

in any way relates to the instant investigation or action, which was made by or at the request or

direction of a public servant; by a person whom the People intend to call as a witness at hial; or, which

the People intend to introduce at trial, including, but not limited to:

(a) All reports (including notes) pertaining to forensic testing done
on any electronic devices seized from Mr. Pigeon or anyone
else related to the charges in the current indictment;

(b) Any analysis of any item recovered from any premises, vehicle
or property in which defendant Pigeon allegedly had a
proprietary interest in, or over which he allegedly exercised
any control;

(c) Any and all tests or examinations of any physical evidence
obtained or inspected as part of the instant investigation;

(d) Any and all reports, notes or other such documents relating to
the transportation of items of physical evidence to all other
locations beyond the point of initial seizure, including, but not
limited to, transportation to various testing facilities including
transportation to any out of jurisdiction testing facilities;
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(e) Any and all reports, notes or other such documents relating to
the types of analysis and/or testing requested to be performed
upon all items of physical evidence;

(fl Any and all reports, notes or other such documents relating to
the results of any and all testing procedures utilized in this
investigation;

(g) Any and all polygraph examinations conducted in relation to
this investigation, including any notes, reports or other
documents relating to such an examination; and

(h) Any and all other tests or examinations which were conducted
with respect to the instant investigation.

It is hereby demanded that any and all physical evidence be preserved so that the

defense may view independently_

Identification Materials

10) Any and all .individual photographs, photo azrays, photo spreads and/or

videotapes shown to any witness, potential witness andior informant_

11) Any written material relative to any photographic and/or corporeal

identification proceeding.

12) If photographs, sound recordings or video recordings were taken of the

defendant, provide the following:

(a) The name of the person who took the photographs or recordings;

(b) The date and time the photographs or recordings were taken;

(c) The location at which they were taken;

(d) The circumstances under which they were taken;

(e) The technical experiences of the persons) who took the photographs or

recordings;
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(~ Whether the defendant was read his Miranda. rights or any other rights prior to

the taking of the photographs or recordings; and

(g) Whether the defendant was given any opportunity to refuse to have his

photograph taken or to be subject to sound or video recordings.

Police Investigation

13) Tape recordings, complaint logs, and transcripts relating to any call to the

police or "911" relating to the instant investigation.

14) Tape recordings, dispatcher logs, transcripts and the like recording any police

communications during the investigation of the events charged in the indictment.

15) Any and all police reports filed in connection with the investigation or which

relate to the charges herein, and all original notes made by law enforcement officers of their

investigation, including any raw notes of any officers or public officials, and witr~ess statements and

any related records, including police memo book entries.

16) Any and all notes, transcripts, reports or other statements relating to any

interview with any witness.

17) Specify whether any information or evidence concerning the instant

investigation was obtained by any form of electronic surveillance, and if so, the identity of the person

or persons from whom the information was obtained, the telephone or place subjected to electronic

surveillance, the date upon which the information was obtained and a brief statement of the authority

under which the surveillance was conducted and the contents of such information or evidence.

18) Any other police reports, memoranda. or documents rela~ang to this criminal

action, which contain factual information and are required to be completed in the normal course of

business by any police agency connected with this case, and were so completed in connection with

this case.

19) A copy of the criminal record of the defendant.
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20) The names and addresses of all individuals interviewed with regard to this

case.

21) The names and addresses of all witnesses the prosecution intends to call as

witnesses at trial.

22) The names and addresses of all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the

prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the alleged crime.

23) Any notes taken by the prosecution during an interview with any witness,

factual or expert.

24) All documents, records or other evidence which relate many way to .the

criminal charges brought against the defendant, including written and/or oral communications within

or between any police agencies in connection with this case.

25) Any statement, written or otherwise, taken from any witness, together with

any notes taken by law enforcement officials thereof, who is now unavailable to the defense because

of death or any other reason.

Warrants

26) Any and all warrants issued in conjunction with this investigation, including

any and all search warrants, arrest warrants and eavesdropping warrants.

27) With respect to each warrant set forth above, any application, affidavit,

transcript (including any sworn testimony taken), inventory, ~etum, seized item, and any other

material which relates thereto.

Warrantless

28) Specify whether there were any warrantless or alleged "consensual"

searches of any premises, vehicles or items allegedly under defendant Pigeon's dominion or

control. With respect to any such seazches, please disclose any and all relevant reports, notes,

"consent" forms, inventory forms, returns, seized items and/or any other document or item which

in any manner relates to said search.
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29) Specify whether there were any warrantless or alleged "consensual"

seazches of any work computer, phone, hard drive and/or any other electronic devices.

Miscellaneous Discovery

30) The specific date, time and place of the offenses charged.

31) Any and all e-mails sent or received by John A. Michalek to any lawyers

dealing with receivers and their appointrnent

32) Any and all te~rt messages sent or received by John A. Michalek to any lawyers

dealing with receivers and their appointment

33) Any and all phone calls made or received by John A. Michalek to any lawyers

dealing with receivers and their appointment

34) Any and all te~rt messages, e-mails, and phone calls sent or received by John

A. Michalek to any lawyers while he was presiding over their case.

35) Any and all text messages, e-mails, and phone calls sent or received by John

A. Michalek that reference Mr. Pigeon directly or indirecfly.

36) Any and all text messages, e-mails, and phone calls sent or received by John

A. Michalek to other judges discussing cases he was presiding over.

37) Any and all text messages, e-mails, and phone calls sent or received by John

A. Michalek discussing benefits he had received or requested with attorney's who currently were

appearing before him or who had appeared before him.

38) Any and all text messages, e-mails, and phone calls sent or received by

Edward A. Betz and DeMarie &Schoenborn, P.C. that reference Mr. Pigeon directly or indirectly.

39) Any and all documents or records of Edward A. Betz and DeMarie &

Schoenborn, P.C. concerning cases or legal business referred to him by Mr. Pigeon.
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40) Any and all documents or records of Edward A. Betz and DeMarie &

Schoenborn, P.C. concerning payments or referral fees paid to Mr. Pigeon.

41) Any and all documents related to the Attorney General's authority to

prosecute this case under Executive Law §63 including but not limited to the referral source and all

documents and records that jusCify that referral.

Molineuz Discovery

42) Any "property" (as defined in CPL §240.10(3)) which refers to or relates to

any alleged illegal and/or wrongful act which is not referred to in the indictment and which the

prosecution will endeavor to prove at trial. See, People v. Ventimiglia, 52 N.Y.2d 350, 362, 438

N.Y.S.2d 261, 265 (1981).

Constitutionally Mandated Disclosure

43) The defendant hereby demands disclosure by the prosecution of any evidence

or information which may reasonably tend to prove favorable to him with respect to an ultimate

determination of guilt or innocence upon the trial of this case, which may be utilized to impeach any

prosecution wi~ess, or with respect to the severity o~ any sentence to be imposed in the event of

ultimate conviction of any of the charges. Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct 1194 (1963);

United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 96 S.Ct. 2392 (1976); United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667,105

S.Ct. 3375 (1985); Kyles v. YVhitley, 514 U.S. 419, 115 S.Ct 1555 (1995); and People v. Geaslen, 54

N.Y.2d 510, 446 N.Y.S.2d 227 (1981). The evidence need not be competent evidence or admissible

at trial. United States v. Gleason, 265 F.Supp. 880, 886 (S_D_N.Y. 1967). This demand includes, but

is not limited to, the following:

(a) Any information which is in any manner contrary to
the People's theory with respect to the commission of
the indicted offenses;
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(b) Any evidence that the defendant did not commit the
crimes charged, or any evidence that the defendant did
not commit any of the essential elements of a crime
charged;

(c) Any evidence including any reports documents or
otherwise which suggest that there was no quid pro
quo for the alleged favors provided by Mr. Pigeon;

(d) Any evidence that the defendant did not confer, offer,
and agree to confer a benefit in excess of ten thousand
dollars upon John A. Michalek;

(e) Any evidence that there was no agreement or
understanding that John A. Michalek's vote, opinion
judgment,-action, decision and exercise of discretion
would be influenced;

(~ Any evidence that the defendant did not l~owingly
confer, offer, or agree to confer upon John A. Michalek
any assistance in efforts to recommend appoin~ent to
the Appellate Division for the New York State
Supreme Court for the purpose of John A. Michalek
violating his duty as a public Servant;

(g) Any evidence that the defendant did not lrnowingly
confer, offer, or agree to confer upon John A. Michalek
any assistance in finding employment for Relative 1
for the-purpose of John A. Michalek violating his duty
as a public servant;

(h) Any evidence that the defendant did not lmowingly
confer, offer, or agree to confer upon John A. Michalek
any hockey ticket for the purpose of John A. Michalek
violating his duty as a public servant;

(i) Any evidence that the defendant did not l~owingly
confer, offer, or agree to confer upon John A. Michalek
any assistance in finding employment and appointed
positions for Relative 2 for the purpose of John A.
Michalek violating his duty as a public servant;

(j) Any evidence that the defendant did not laiowingly
confer, offer, or agree to confer upon John A. Michalek
any fundraiser tickets for the purpose of John A.
Michalek violating his duty as a public servant;
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(k) Any facts lrnown to the prosecution or any law
enforcement agency worlang in conjunction with the
prosecution which aze directly contrary to the theory
of the prosecution. People v. Porter, 128 A.D.2d 248,
516 N.Y_S.2d 201 (1~* Dept), Iv. denied, 70 N.Y.2d
936, 524 N.Y.S.2d 687 (198 ;

(1) Tf~e names of all personnel lrnown to the prosecution
who have lrnowledge pertaining to this case or who
were interviewed by the authorities in connection with
this case, if such Imowledge is exculpatory for
defendant or mitigates the allegations against him;

(m) Specify the exact nature of any information or
evidence from the instant investigation which has been
destroyed, lost or altered;

(n) Any recordings made by any Government unit
including but not linuted to the F.B.I of John A.
Michalek, including those which the defense was
informed by members of the federal and state
prosecution teams, allegedly containing false
statement punishable by federal statute 18 U.S.C.
section 1001;

(o) Any statements, hanscripts, notes, reports, records,
other information or other documents, in any form,
which may indicate that any prospective prosecution
witness has, in the course of the investigation
undertaken with respect to the instant maUer, given
contradictory information or has engaged in lying,
deceitful or otherwise mendacious activity; Brady v.
Maryland, 373 U.S. 83; Thomas v. United States; 343
F.2d 49 (9~' Cu. 1965);

(p) Any information in any form which may indicate that
any prospective prosecution witness has given
information conhadictory to, or materially at variance
with information received from any other source or
sources. People v. Ambrose, 52 A.D.2d 850, 382
N.Y.S.2d 566 (2d Dept 1976); People v. Zimmerman,
10 N.Y.2d 430, 224 N.Y.S.2d 2 (1962);

(c~ Any information in any form which contradicts
information obtained from any prosecution witness;
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(r) The criminal records of any prospective prosecution
witnesses and any information indicating that these
witnesses have in the past perpetrated immoral,
vicious or criminal acts. Giles v. Maryland, 386 U.S.
66 (1967);

(s) Any information recounting any misidentification or
inconsistent testimony regarding any identification of
Mr. Pigeon or any information indicating a failure on
the part of any individual to identify Mr. Pigeon. See,
Brady, 373 U.S. 83; Thomas, 343 F.2d 49;

(t) Any information which in any manner undernlines the
credibility of any prosecution witness;

(u) Any information which may Lend to indicate that any
potential prosecution witness has been charged with,
or convicted of, any criminal charge;

(v) Any information tending to indicate that any potential
prosecution witness has been or is being investigated
for illegal activities by any law enforcement officials;

~~%~ Any informat~~n wYuch may indicate ihaz any potential
prosecution wi~ess was motivated to cooperate with
the authorifies by a desire either to avoid being
prosecuted or to procure a plea to a reduced charge;

(x) Any information regarding plea bargain deals or
agreements that were made with John A. Michalek,
including agreements or understandings not to charge
him or members of his fauuly with federal or state
charges, including agreements not to charge John A.
Michalek with the several federal felonies under 18
U.S.C. section 1001 which the prosecution team
represented to defense counsel had been committed by
John A. Michalek;

(y) Any information or agreements not to charge or
prosecute Edward A. Betz or members of his family
that were made to him;

(z) Any information which may indicate that the
cooperation of any potential prosecution witness was
induced by a threat, express or implied, that unless
such cooperation was forthcoming, the potential
witness would be prosecuted;
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(aa) Any information which may indicate that any potential
prosecution witness has engaged in an erraric course of
behavior or has in the past made false or misleading
statements;

(bb) Any information which may indicate that the instant
prosecution is based on or derived from evidence
acquired as a result of governmental action which may
have been violative of constitutional standards_ This
request expressly encompasses any information which
might affect the Court's decision on a suppression
issue in a fashion favorable to the defendant, People
v. Geaslen, 54 N.Y.2d 510, 516, 446 N.Y.S. 2d, 229
.(1981);

(cc) Any information, dacumentaton and/or other
evidence wtrich tends to show that any prospective
prosecution witriess could reasonably be considered to
be an accomplice to any offense alleged in this
indichnent;

(dd) Any information as to any prospective prasecution
witness having a history of mental or emotional
dis[urbance;

(ee) Any evidence or information as to prior charged or
uncharged instances of criminal conduct by any
prospective prosecution witness, including a copy of
any and all charges, accusatory instruments, police
reports, transcripts of proceedings, etc;

(~ Any information which may indicate that any
prospective prosecution witness was under the
influence of alcohol, medication or any drug at or near
the time of the events charged in the indictrnent or at
or near the time of the events about which the potential
witness may be called to testify;

(gg) Any evidence that any alleged victim or any witness
suffers, or at any time suffered, from any type of head
or brain injury which might affect the person's
accuracy, perception or comprehension with respect to
the incidents in question; in addition, any evidence that
any complainant, any alleged victim or any material
witness, at any time, sought or received professional
treatment for such head or brain injury is requested.
People v. Reusing, 14 N.Y.2d 210, 250 N.Y.S.2d 401
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(1964); People v. Lowe, 96 Misc.2d 33, 408 N.Y.S2d
873 (Bronx County Crimuial Court, 1978). See also,
People v. Baler, 73 A.D2d 649, 422 N.Y.S.2d 734 (2d
Dept. 1979);

(hh) Any statements, admissions and/or confessions
provided by any individual indicating that they were
responsible for the acts alleged in the indictrnent:
specify the name and address of any such individual;
and

(u) Any other information or evidence, regardless of
whether it is admissible at a trial, which could be used
to impeach a prospective prosecution wifiess.

Prior Uncharged Criminal,. Vicious or Immoral Acts

44) Any and all specific instances of defendant Pigeon's prior uncharged criminal,

vicious or immoral conduct of which the prosecutor has lmowledge and which the prosecutor intends

to Use at trial for purposes of impeaching the credibility of the defendant.

Molineux Proof
45) As to Molineux proof (People v. Molineux,168 N.Y. 264, 61 N.E. 286 (1901)),

specify the date, tine, place and substance of each illegal and/or wrongfiil act which is not referred to

in the indictment and which the prosecution will attempt to prove at trial_ People a Ventimiglia,

52 N_Y.2d 350, 362, 438 N.Y.S. 2d 261, 265 (1981).

Should the People refuse to comply with this demand for discovery, or any portion of

it, such refusal shall be made in writing, which shall set forth the grounds of such refusal as fully as

possible, consistent with the reason for the refusal and sha11 be served upon counsel for G. Steven

Pigeoq and filed with the Court within fifteen (15) days of the request

Demand is further made that should the prosecution fail to comply with any of the

provisions of Article 200 of the Criminal Procedure I,aw, including, but not limited to, a failure to

state properly their refusal within a time period allowed by statute, that the Court impose sanctions
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permitted by §240.70 of the Criminal Procedure Law, including, but not limited to, preclusion of

evidence or dismissal of all charges.

DATED: Buffalo, New York
July 14, 2016

LIP TZ~~"J~~' ~N SCIME MBRIA ii,r
AUIs'~. AMBRIA, JR., ESQ.
~A1tRY N. COVERT, ESQ.
JUSTIN D. GINTER, ESQ.
Attorneys for Defendant, /`~
G. STEVEN PIGEON
Office and Post Office Address
42 Delaware Avenue, Suite 120
Buffalo, New York 14202
(716) 849-1333

TO: HON. ERIC T. SCHNEIDERMAN
ATTORNEY GENERAL
STATE OF NEW YORK

ATTN: SUSAN H. SADINSKY, ESQ.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Main Place Tower
350 Main Street, Suite 300A
Buffalo, New York 14202
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STATE OF NEW YORK COUNTY OF ERIE
COiJNTY COURT

PEOPLE OF Tf~ STATE OF NEW YORK,

Plaintiff,
REQUEST FOR A

BILL OF PARTICULARS

INDICTMENT No. 01177-2016(SAG)
vs_

G. STEVEN PIGEON,

Defendant

I'

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that p►~sLnt to §200.95 of the Criminal Procedure Law,

the defendant, G. STEVEN PIGEON, hereby requests that within fifteen (15) days of the service of

this request or as soon thereafter as practicable, you serve upon the undersigned and file with the

Court, a bill of particulars specifying the following items:

1) The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the chazge of

Penal Law §200.03, Bribery in the Second Degree, contained in Count One of the Indictment, which

the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case, including, but not limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense;

(b) Specify each and every financial and monetazy transaction
alleged, including e~ct dollar amounts down to the penny;

(c) Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "in or
about February 2012 through in or about April 2015" that Mr_
Pigeon was alleged to have committed the offense;

(d) Specify exacfly how Mr. Pigeon came to an "agreement"
and/or ̀ understanding" with John A. Michalek;



(e) Specify exactly how John A. Michalek's vote, opinion,
judgment, action decision and exercise of discretion as a public
servant were influenced by Mr. Pigeon;

(fl Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon conferred,
offered and agreed to confer a benefit valued in excess of ten
thousand dollars upon John A. Michalek;

(g) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both;

(h) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses;

(i) Whether. any other persons(s) have been charged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and addresses, the specific charges lodged against
them and the Court docket numbers for said charges; and,

(j) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime.

2) The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law §200.00,Bribery in the Third Degree, contained in Count Two of the Indictrnent, which

the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case, including, but not limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of ttus offense;

(b) Specify each and every financial and monetary transaction
alleged, including exact dollar amounts down to the penny;

(c) Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "in or
about February 2012 through in or about Apri120I5" that Mr.
Pigeon was alleged to have committed the offense;

(d) Specify exacfly how Mr. Pigeon came to an "agreement"
and/or "understanding" with John A. Michalek;

(e) Specify exactly how John A. Michalek's vote, opinion,
judgment, action decision and exercise of discretion as a public
servant were influenced by Mr. Pigeon;



(fl Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon conferred,
offered and agreed to confer a benefit upon John A. Michalek;

(g) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both;

(h) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses;

(i) Whether any other persons(s) have been chazged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and addresses, the specific charges lodged against
them and the Court docket numbers for said chazges; and,

(j) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime.

3) The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the chazge of

Penal Law §200.20, Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second Degree, contained in Count Three

of the Indictrnent, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case, including, but not

limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense;

(b) Specify each and every way Mr. Pigeon provided assistance to
Relative 1 in searching for employment;

(c) Specify the name, age, and address of Relative 1;

(d) Specify the exact relationship between Relative 1 and John A.
Michalek;

(e) Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "in or
about Febniary 2012 through on or about March 16, 2015" that
Mr. Pigeon was alleged to have committed the offense;

(fl Specify exactly how John A. Nfichalek violated his duty as a
public servant;
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(g) Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon "knowingly"
conferred, offered and agreed to confer a benefit upon John A.
Michalek;

(h) Specify the exact benefit Mr. Pidgeon received for providing
this alleged assistance;

(i) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both;

(j) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses;

(k) Whether any other persons(s) have been charged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and addresses, the specific charges lodged against
them and the Court docket numbers for said chazges; and,

(1) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime.

4) The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law §200.20, Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second Degree, contained in Count Four

of the Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case, including, but not

limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense;

(b) Specify each and every way Mr. Pigeon recommended that
John A. Michalek be appointment to the Appellate Division of
the New York Supreme Court;

(c) Specify to whom Mr. Pigeon recommended that John A.
Michalek be appointment to the Appellate Division of the New
York Supreme Court;

(d) Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "on or
about December 10, 2012 through on or abort Apri120, 2015"
that Mr_ Pigeon was alleged to have committed the offense;
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(e) Specify exactly how John A. Michalek violated his duty as a
public servant;

(fl Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon "knowingl}~'
conferred, offered and agreed to confer a benefit upon John A.
Michalek;

(g) Specify the exact benefit Mr. Pidgeon received for providing
this alleged assistance;

(h) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both;

(i) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and then names and
addresses;

(j) Whether any other persons(s) have been charged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and addresses, the specific charges lodged against
them and the Court docket numbers for said charges; and,

(k) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime.

5) The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law §200.20, Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second Degree, contained in Counts Five

and Sic of the Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case, including, but

not limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense;

(b) Specify each seat number and section for the hockey tickets
provided;

(c) Specify exactly how many hockey tickets were provided.;

(d) Specify the exact value of the hockey tickets;

(e) Specify the exact benefit Mr. Pidgeon received for allegedly
providing these hockey tickets;
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(fl Specify exactly how John A. Michalek violated his duty as a
public servant;

(g) Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon "l~owingl~'
conferred, offered and agreed to confer a benefit upon John A.
Michalek;

(h) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both;

(i) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses;

(j) Whether any other persons(s) have been charged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and addresses, the specific charges lodged against
them and the Court docket numbers for said chazges; and,

(k) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime.

6) The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law §200.20, Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second Degree, contained in Count Seven

of the Indictrnent, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case, including, but not

limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense;

(b) Specify each and every way Mr. Pigeon provided assistance to
Relative 2 in searching for employment and appointed
positions;

(c) Specify the name, age, and address of Relative 2;

(d) Specify the exact relationship between Relative 2 and John A.
Michalek;

(e) Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "on or
about October 30, 2013 through on or about January 26, 2015"
that Mr. Pigeon was alleged to have committed the offense;
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(~ Specify exactly how John A. Michalek violated his duty as a
public servant;

(g) Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon "knowingly'
conferred, offered and agreed to confer a benefit upon John A.
Ivfichalek;

(h) Specify the exact benefit Mr. Pidgeon received for providing
this alleged assistance;

(h) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both;

(i) Whether or not there e~usts or existed any other persons)
who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses;

(j) Whether any other persons(s) have been chazged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and addresses, the specific charges lodged against
them and the Court docket numbers for said charges; and,

(kj Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduci which The
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime.

7) The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law §200.20, Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second Degree, contained in Count Eight

of the Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case, including, but not

linuted to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense;

(b) Specify the exact value of the fundraiser ticket;

(c) Specify the charity that the fundraiser ticket was supporting;

(e) Specify the exact benefit Mr. Pidgeon received for allegedly
providing the fundraiser ticket;

(fl Specify e~cacfly how John A. Michalek violated his duty as a
public servant;



(g) Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon "laiowingly"
conferred, offered and agreed to confer a benefit upon John A.
Michalek;.

(h) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both;

(i) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses;

(j) Whether any other persons(s) have been charged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and then
names and addresses, the specific charges lodged against
them and the Court docket numbers for said charges; and,

(k) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime.

8) The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal i,aw §1~~3~(1 j, Tirana i_,arceny in the Third Degree, contained in Count Nine of the

Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case, including, but not limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense;

(b) Specify exactly how much money Mr. Pigeon allegedly stole
by extortion in exact dollar amounts down to the penny;

(c) Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "on or
about August 23, 2012 through in or about March 22 2013"
that Mr_ Pigeon was alleged to have committed the offense;

(d) Specify exacfly how Mr. Pigeon "stole" property exceeding
$3,000.00;

(e) Specify exactly how Mr. Pigeon "extorted" property from "a
person Irnown to the Crrand Jury";

(fl Specify exactly who "a person know to the Grand Jury' is;

(g) Specify the exact relationship between Mr. Pigeon and "a
person low to the Grand Jury";
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(g) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both;

(h) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses;

(i) Whether any other persons(s) have been charged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and addresses, the specific charges lodged against
them and the Court docket numbers for said charges; and,

(j) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime.

9) Defendant, G. Steven Pigeon, requires the foregoing items of factual

information because without this specific information, he cannot adequately prepaze or conduct his

defense.

Should the People refuse to comply with this request for a bill of particulars, or any

portion of it, such refusal shall be made in writing, which shall set forth the grounds of such refusal

as fully as possible, consistent with the reason for the refusal, and shall be served upon G. Steven

Pigeon and filed with the Court within fifteen (15) days of the request.

Demand is further made that should the prosecution fail to comply with any of the

provisions of Article 200 of the Criminal Procedure Law, including, but not limited to, a failure to

state properly their refusal within a time period allowed by statute, that the Court impose sanctions

pernutted by §240.70 of the Crimuial Procedure Law, including, but not limited to, preclusion of

evidence or dismissal of all charges.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the defendant requests the People

respond to this REQUEST FOR A BILL OF PARTICiTLARS by service upon defense counsel,

or written refusal to do so, within fifteen (15) days of this request.



DATED: Buffalo, New York
July 14, 2016

TO. HON. ERIC T. SCHNEIDERMAN
ATTORNEY GENERAL
STATE OF NEW YORK

ATTN: SUSAN H. SADINSKY, ESQ.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Main Place Tower
350 Main Street, Suite 300A
Buffalo, New York 14202-3750

Respectfully submitted,

~' J. ~AMBRIA, JR., ESQ.
A.RRY N. NELSON, ESQ.
NSTIN D. GINTER, ESQ.
Attorneys for Defendant,
G. STEVEN PIGEON , '~
Office and Post Office Address
42 Delawaze Avenue, Suite 300
Buffalo, New York 14202
(716) 849-1333
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STATE OF NEW YORK COUNTY OF ERIE
SUPREME COURT

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

-vs-

G. STEVEN PIGEON,

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE
TO DEFENDANT'S
DEMAND TO PRODUCE

Indictment No. 01177-2016
Defendant. (SAG)

STATE OF NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF ERIE ) ss.:

Susan H. Sadinsky, an attorney duly admitted to practice law in the Courts of the State of

New York, affirms the truth of the following under penalty of perjury:

1. I am a New York State Assistant Attorney General appearing of counsel to Eric T.

Schneiderman, Attorney General of the State of New York, on behalf of the People of the State

of New York.

2. This affirmation is made in response to the defendant's Demand to Produce dated

July 14, 2016, and received by the undersigned on July 14, 2016.

3. This affirmation is offered based upon personal knowledge and upon information

and belief, the grounds for which include a review of the file maintained by this office, papers

filed in connection with this case and discussions with people having knowledge of this matter.

4. This response is numbered to respond to defendant's demand.

STATEMENTS OF DEFENDANT MADE TO A PUBLIC SERVANT

1) Defendant seeks any written, recorded or oral statement made to a public servant

engaged in law enforcement activity.



PEOPLE'S RESPONSE:

a. No stenographically recorded statements of defendant exist.

b. No tape recorded statements made by or attributed to defendant exist with

regard to the criminal transactions alleged in the Indictment.

c. Statements attributed to defendant that are recorded or memorialized by

typed documents regazding the criminal transactions alleged in the

Indictment shall be made available for inspection and copying.

Defendant was served with a CPL §710.30 Notice on July 15, 2016.

Attached to the CPL §710.30 Notice is a typed document that

memorializes an oral statement that the defendant gave on August 15,

2008 when he was interviewed by Erie County District Attorney's Office

Confidential Criminal Investigator, Anthony Costantino and Federal

Bureau of Investigations Special Agent, Brian Burns.

d. Statements attributed to defendant that are recorded or memorialized by

handwritten documents with regazd to the' criminal transactions alleged in

the Indictment shall be made available for inspection and copying.

e. No video-taped statements made by or attributed to defendant exist.

f. No audio recordings of statements made by or attributed to defendant exist

with regard to the criminal transactions alleged in the Indictment.

g. Defendant seeks any other statements which are reflected by documents

(such as letters, cards, postcards and telegrams) which the People may

contend were directly or indirectly authored by defendant. This request is

overbroad and outside the requirements of CPL §240.20.

Defendant asserts that his requested disclosure of statements includes statements which

2



he allegedly made to civilians who were cooperating with the authorities. Defendant further

claims that the term "cooperating" is broadly construed and is intended to include:

a. John A. Michalek and any and all persons related to John A Michalek by

blood or marriage (including, but not limited to, relative 1) and relative 2)

and

b. Any and all persons who testified before the grand jury and who

subsequently claimed, at any time, that defendant made statements in their

presence which statements have been made known to the prosecution.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: The request is overbroad and beyond the scope of

CPL §240.20.

2) Defendant claims that he is entitled pursuant to CPL §60.45(2)(a) to all statements

made to all civilians, even when not acting under the direction of or in cooperation with law

enforcement, so that he can assess if any such statements were made as the result of threats or

"other improper conduct or undue pressure" and make appropriate motions.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20.

Defendant's statements made to a civilian witness, who are not acting at the direction of law

enforcement, are not discoverable. See, People v. Mitchell, 289 AD2d 776 [3d Dep't 2001]. See,

People v Swart 273 AD2d 503 [3d Dep't 2000], app den 95 NY2d 908 (Inculpatory handwritten

letter allegedly written by defendant to his former girlfriend while he was in jail was admissible

where (1) it was not a statement made to any person in law enforcement capacity, and thus it did

not have to be disclosed to defendant under CPL §240.20, and (2) it came within party

admissions exception to hearsay rule, because such admissions need not be against party's

interest when made).

3) Defendant seeks any transcript of testimony relating to the crirpinal action or



proceeding pending against defendant, given by defendant or any possible co-defendant, before

the grand jury.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: Defendant did not testify at the grand jury proceeding. CPL

§240.20-1 (b) obligates the People to disclose any transcript of testimony relating to the criminal

action or proceeding pending against the defendant, given by the defendant, or by a co-defendant

to be tried jointly, before any grand jury. There is no co-defendant that will be tried jointly with

the defendant. The defendant's request for the transcript of testimony related to the criminal

action or proceeding of a co-defendant in the grand jury is beyond the scope of CPL

§240.20-1(b).

4) Defendant seeks any charts, diagrams, motion pictures, videotapes, audiotapes,

drawings, sketches or photographs made, acquired or utilized during the investigation which has

been conducted in relation to this prosecution, including but not limited to such items which

were made or completed by a public servant, or made by a person whom the prosecutor intends

to call as a witness at trial, or which the People intend to introduce at trial. Defendant's request

specifically includes, but is not limited to such items that were created and/or discovered during

any portion of the instant investigation including the search of any premises, automobiles or

individuals, and any scientific tests or experiments.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE:

a. All photographs or drawings relating to the criminal action or proceeding

which was made or completed by a public servant engaged in law

enforcement activity, or which was made by a person whom the

prosecutor intends to call as a witness at trial, or which the people intend

to introduce at trial, shall be made available for inspection.

b. Any tapes or other electronic recordings which the prosecutor intends to

4



introduce at trial, irrespective of whether such recording was made during

the course of the criminal investigation shall be made available for

inspection.

c. Enclosed herewith is a disk containing photos, sketches, and a list of

property seized from 1003 Admirals Walk on May 28, 2015.

d. The remaining requests made by the defendant aze overbroad and beyond

the scope of CPL §240.20.

5) The defendant seeks any item of "property," which is defined in CPL §240.10(3).

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: All property obtained from the defendant as defined in CPL

§240.10(3) shall be made available for inspection. The defendant is already in possession of

copies of electronic messages and text messages and other documentary evidence seized

pursuant to search warrants.

6) The defendant seeks any photograph, photocopy,.audiotape, videotape, film or

other reproduction made by or at the direction of a police officer, peace officer or prosecutor of

any property prior to its release pursuant to the provision of §450.10 of the Penal Law,

irrespective of whether the People intend to introduce the property or photograph, photocopy or

other reproduction at trial or other reproduction made by or at the direction of a pokce officer or

prosecutor of any property irrespective of whether the People intend to introduce same at trial

shall be made available for inspection.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: No property has been released.

7) The defendant seeks any photographs, audiotapes, video tapes or other electronic

recordings, irrespective of whether said recording was made during the course of the criminal

transaction or the investigation relating to the instant indictment, including but not limited to,

911 tapes or recordings of police broadcasts, which were made or completed by a public servant



engaged in a law enforcement activity, or which were made by a person whom the People intend

to call as a witness at trial, or which the People intend to call as a witness at trial, or which the

People intend to introduce at trial.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE:

a. All photographs or drawings relating to the criminal action which the

People intend to use at trial shall be made available for inspection. See

4.c., supra.

b. No tapes or other electronic recordings exist that the People intend to use

at trial.

c. There aze no 911 tapes or recordings of police broadcasts.

8) The defendant requests any and all negatives which correspond to any and all

photographs taken with regard to this matter.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: No negatives exist for any photographs.

SCIENTIFIC OR TECHNICAL MATERIALS

9 a)-h) The defendant requests any report, document, note, audiotape, videotape,

photograph and or other written material, or position thereof, which relates in any fashion to a

physical or mental examination or to a test or experiment regardless of whether the prosecution

intends to introduce it at trial, which in any way relates to .the instant investigation or action,

which was made by or at the request or direction of a public servant; by a person whom the

People intend to call as a witness at trial; or, which the People intend to introduce at trial,

including, but not limited to items a-h.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE:

a. No physical or mental examinations of the defendant were conducted.

b. There are no written reports or documents concerning a physical



examination of any evidence, a scientific test or experiment relating to the

criminal action or proceeding which was made by, or at the request or

direction of a public servant engaged in law enforcement activity, or

which was made by a person whom the prosecutor intends to call as a

witness at trial, or which the people intend to introduce at trial, or which

the people intend to introduce at trial.

c. The remainder of the defendant's request is overbroad and exceeds the

scope of CPL §240.20.

IDENTIFICATION MATERIALS

10, 11, 12 a)-g) The defendant seeks photographs, photo arrays, photo spreads and/or

videotapes shown to any witness, potential witness and/or informant; any written material

relative to any photographic and/or corporeal identification proceeding and in the event

photographs, sound recording or video recordings were taken of the defendant, details about the

circumstances under which they were taken.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE:

a. To date, no identification procedures have been utilized by law

enforcement.

b. The defendant was photographed by law enforcement at the time of his

arrest. A copy of his mug shot is available for inspection.

c. The defendant's request is overbroad and beyond the scope of

CPL §240.20. The defendant's request for photographs, sound recordings

or video recordings taken of the defendant other than in the context of an

identification procedure which to date has not occurred in this case, have

been addressed above in responses to paragraphs 6 and 7.
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POLICE INVESTIGATION

13) & 14) The defendant seeks tape recordings complaint logs, and transcripts relating to

any call to the police or "91 1" relating to the instant investigation as well as dispatcher logs,

transcripts and recordings of communications of the police during the investigation of the events

charged in the indictment.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: No tape recordings exist.

15) Defendant seeks any and all police reports filed in connection with the

investigation or which relate to the charges herein, and all original notes made by law

enforcement officers of.their investigation, including any raw notes of any officers or public

servants, and witness statements and any related records, including police memo book entries.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE:

a. Pursuant to CPL§ 240.45, this request is premature. In addition, the

request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20.

b. Further, there is no constitutional requirement that reports, notes or

memoranda made by the police for their internal use be made available for

pretrial discovery, unless there is exculpatory matter contained therein,

and the statute (CPL art 240) does not require such disclosure, unless the

prosecutor intends to introduce such material or portions thereof at the

trial. People v Finkle 103 M2d 985 (Sullivan County 1980).

16) The defendant seeks any and all notes, transcripts, reports or other statements

relating to any interview with any witness.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: Pursuant to CPL §240.45, this request is premature. In

addition, the request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20.



17) Defendant seeks any information or evidence obtained by electronic surveillance.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: Electronic surveillance was not used in the investigation.

18) Defendant seeks any other police reports or documents relating to the criminal

action, which contain factual information and aze required to be complete in the normal course of

business by any police agency connected with the case.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20 and

premature pursuant to CPL §240.45.

19) Defendant seeks a copy of his criminal record.

PEOPLE'S RESPUNSE: At his arraignment, defendant was provided a copy of

criminal record.

20) Defendant seeks the names and addresses of all individuals interviewed with

regard to this case.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20.

21) Defendant seeks the names and addresses of all witnesses the prosecution intends

to call as witnesses at trial.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20 and

premature pursuant to CPL §240.45.

22} Defendant seeks the names and addresses of all alleged witnesses to any conduct

which the prosecution claims forms the part of the chain of events of the alleged crime.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20.

23) Defendant seeks any notes taken by the prosecution during an interview with any

witness, factual or expert.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20 and

premature pursuant to CPL §240.45.

E



24) Defendant seeks all documents, records or other evidence which relate in any way

to the criminal charges brought against defendant, including written and/or oral communications

within or between any police agency in connection with this case.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20 and

premature pursuant to CPL §240.45.

25) Defendant seeks any statement, written or otherwise, taken from any witness,

together with any notes taken by law enforcement officials thereof, who is now unavailable to

the defense because of death or any other reason.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20 and

premature CPL §240.45.

WARRANTS

26) & 27) Defendant seeks any and all warrants issued relating to the investigation, and

any application, return or inventory associated with any warrant.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: The defendant's request is beyond the scope of

CPL §240.20.

WARRANTLESS

28) & 29) Defendant seeks information and documents relating to any warrantless

searches, including consensual seazches.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: The defendant's request is beyond the scope of

CPL §240.20. Moreover, there were no warrantless searches.

MISCELLANEOUS DISCOVERY

30) The defendant seeks the specific date, time and place of the offenses charged.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: There maybe dates that the defendant participated in
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meetings and communications that would be within the defendant's knowledge and which are

unknown to the People. The dates set forth below aze those which the People are aware of as

dates that the offenses in the Indictment occurred. The offenses occurred either in Buffalo, New

York or elsewhere in Erie County, New York. The defendant is in possession of the electronic

mail and text messages that he exchanged with John A. Michalek which can provide the time

that the communications relevant to the offenses charged can be located.

The offense alleged in Count One of the Indictment occurred during the following time

frame:

2012

February 7; 8; 13
March 2; 14; 16; 19; 20; 26
Apri13; 10; 11; 13; ] 7; 18; 25; 30
May 1; 2; 3; 8; 10; 11; 16; 17; 18; 24; 30
June 5; 22; 25; 26
July 2-3; 9-11; 16; 23; 24-27; 31
August 1-2; 6; 9; 15-17; 20-21; 23; 27, 31
September 1; 4; 6; 7; 25; 27
November 20; 27
December 10

2013

January 3; 8; 9; 12; 14; 23; 24; 28; 29; 30
February 1; 4; 20; 27
March 1; 11; 12; 14; 15; 18; 20
April 8; l7;
May 16; 20; 21; 22; 23; 24; 28-29
June 3; 10; 11; 12; 14; 15; 17; 18-19; 21-26; 27; 28
Juiy 8; 9; 11;14; 15; 18; 23; 24; 26; 27; 29
August 15
September 6; 11; 12; 28; 30
October 1; 4; 8; 10; 11; 23; 30-31
November 1; 7; 15; 16; 18-22; 25-26
December 4; 9; 10; 17; 23

2014

January 2; 6; 18; 20; 29

11



February 4; 6; 8; 20; 22; 26
March l; 5-6; 17-18; 26; 27
April 7;
May 1-2; 21
June 3; 4; 11; 18-19; 23
July 7; 10; 25
August 7; 11
September 10; 25
October S-9; 13; 14-17; 22; 23-24; 28-30
November 12; 13; 14; 17; 25
December 2; 16; 18

2015

January 5; 6; 14-15; 21; 22; 26
February 4; 8; 10; 12-13; 16-17
March 2; 13; 16
April 14; 20; 21

The offense alleged in Count Two of the Indictment, occurred
during the following time period:

2012

February 7; 8; 13
March 2; 14; 16; 19; 20; 26
April 3; 10; 11; 13; 17; 18; 25; 30
May 1; 2; 3; 8; 1 Q; 11; 16; 17; 1 S; 24; 30
June 5; 22; 25; 26
July 2-3; 9-11; 16; 23; 24-27; 31
August 1-2; 6; 9; 15-17; 20-21; 23; 27, 31
September l; 4; 6; 7; 25; 27
November 20; 27
December 10

2013

January 3; 8; 9; 12; 14; 23; 24; 28; 29; 30
February 1; 4; 20; 27
March l; 11; 12; 14; 15; 18; 20
April 8; 17
May 16; 20; 21; 22; 23; 24; 28-29;
June 3; 10; 11; 12; 14; 15; 17; 18-19; 21-26; 27; 28
July 8; 9; 11;14; 15; 18; 23; 24; 26; 27; 29
August 15
September 6; 11; 12; 28; 30
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October l; 4; 8; 10; 11; 23; 30-31
November 1; 7; 15; 16; 18-22; 25-26
December 4; 9; 10; 17; 23

2014

January 2; 6; 18; 20; 29
February 4; 6; 8; 20; 22; 26
March 1; 5-6; 17-18; 26; 27
Apri17
May 1-2; 21
June 3; 4; 11; 18-19; 23
July 7; 10; 25
August 7; 11
September 10; 25
October 8-9; 13; 14-17; 22; 23-24; 28-30
November 12; 13; 14; 17; 25
December 2; 16; 1;

2015

January 5; 6; 14-15; 21; 22; 26
February 4; 8; 10; 12-13; 16-17
March 2; 13; 16
April 14; 20; 21

The offense alleged in Count Three of the Indictment, occurred during the following time

period:

2012

February 7; 8; 13; 16; 17
March 2; 15; 16; 19; 20; 26
April 3; 10; 11; 17; 18; 19; 30
May 1; 2; 3; 8; 10; 11; 16; 17; 18; 24; 30
June 5; 22; 25; 26
July 2-3; 9-11; 23; 24-27; 31
August 1-2; 6; 9; 15-17; 20-23; 27, 31
September 1; 4; 6; 7; 25; 27
November 20; 27

2013

January 3; 12; 14; 23; 28; 29; 30
February 1; 4; 20; 27
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Mazch l; 1 l; 12; 14; 15; 18; 20
Apri18; 17
May 16; 20; 21; 22; 23; 24; 28-29
June 3; 10; 11; 12; 14; 15; 17; 18-19; 21-26; 27; 28
July 6; S; 9; 11;14; 15; 18; 23; 26; 27; 29
August 8; 15
September 4; b; 11; 12; 28; 30
October 8; 10; 11; 23; 30
November 15; 16; 18-20; 22; 25-26
December 4; 9; 10; 17

2014

January 2; 20; 29
February 4; 26
March 26; 27
Apri17
May 21
June 4; 11; 19; 23
July 7; 10
September 10; 25
October 8-9; 13; 14-15; 17; 20; 22; 23-24; 28-30
November 12; 13; 17; 25
December 2; 18

2015

January 5; 6; 14-15; 21; 22; 26
February 4; 8; 10; 12-13; 16-17; 18
March 13; 16

The offense alleged in Count Four of the Indictment occurred
during the following time period:

2012

December 10

2013

January 3; 8; 23; 24; 28; 29; 30
February 20
May 16; 20; 21
October 1; 4; 8; 10; 11; 23
November 2I
December 4; 9
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2014

January 20
February 4
March 26; 27
May 21
June 19
July 10

2015

January 15; 21; 22
April 20

The offense alleged in Count 5 of the Indictment occurred during
the following time period:

2013

February 1; 3

The offense alleged in Count 6 of the Indictment occurred during
the following time period:

2013

March 11-12; 14; 18; 20-21

The offense alleged in Count 7 of the Indictment occurred during
the following time period:

2013

October 30-31
November 1; 7; 16; 18-20; 21

2014

May 21
July 7; 10; 11
September 10; 1 l; 25
October 8-9; 13; 14-15; 16-17; 22
December 2

2015
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January 5; 14; 21; 22; 26

The offense alleged in Count S of the Indictment occurred during
the following time period:

2013

November 16; 18-19

The offense alleged in Count 9 of the Indictment occurred during
the following time period:

During the summer and fall of 2012; early March 2013;
March 12, 2013

31-41) The information and documents sought in paragraphs 31-41 of defendant's

Demand to Produce are characterized by the defendant as Miscellaneous Discovery.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: The defendant has not cited any legal authority for the items

requested under the heading of Miscellaneous Discovery. The information and documents

requested are beyond the scope of CPL §240.20.

MOLINEUX DISCOVERY

42) Defendant seeks any property which relates to any alleged illegal and/or wrongful

act which is not referred to in the indictment and which the prosecution will endeavor to prove at

trial.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL §240.20.

CONSTITUTIONALLY MANDATED DISCLOSURE

43) The defendant seeks disclosure of evidence or in~'ormation which may reasonably

tend to prove favorable to him with respect to an ultimate determination of guilt or innocence

upon the trial of this case, which may be utilized to impeach a prosecution witness, or with

respect to the severity of any sentence to be imposed in the event of ultimate conviction of any of

the chazges under Brady v. A~laryland, 373 US 83 (1963).
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PEOPLE'S RESPONSE:

a. The defendant requests exculpatory material within the meaning of Brady

v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). The People aze aware of their

continuing duty under Brady to disclose exculpatory evidence to the

defense and will honor that obligation.

b. The People expect the defense to comply with their reciprocal obligation

pursuant to CPL §240.45 2(b) and (c). As a practical matter, however, the

People are cognizant of the fact that the defense does not have legal access

to the NYSIIIS computer system. Thus, if the defense cannot comply with

their obligations pursuant to CPL §240.45 (2), it is respectfully requested

that the court order the defense to provide accurate names (including

a.k.a's), dates of birth and residential addresses of anticipated defense

witnesses. at least 48 hours prior to the defense calling such witness at trial.

In this manner, the People will have a sufficient period of time in which to

conduct the criminal record check.

PRIOR UNCHARGED CRIMINAL, VICIOUS OR IMMORAL ACTS

44) Defendant seeks all instances of his uncharged criminal, vicious or immoral acts

conduct of which the People intend to use at trial to impeach the credibility of the

defendant.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: The People consent to defendant's request for an order

pursuant to CPL §240.43, requiring notification of specific instances of his prior unchazged

criminal, vicious or immoral conduct which the People intend to introduce at trial to be provided

immediately prior to the commencement of jury selection.
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MOLINEUX PROOF.

45) Defendant seeks the date, dme, place and substance of each illegal act which is

not referred to in the indictment and which the People will attempt to prove at trial.

PEOPLE'S RESPONSE: In the event that the People seek to prove such evidence at

trial, the People will make a notion pursuant to People v. Molineux, at the appropriate time.

Dated: Buffalo, New York
July 28, 2016

ERIC T. SCHNEIDERMAN
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF TI-~
STATE OF NEW YORK ~

By:
Susan H. Sadinsky
Assistant Attorney General
Public Integrity Bureau
350 Main Street, Suite 300A
Buffalo, New York 14202
(716)853-8461
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STATE OF NEW YORK COUNTY OF ERiE
SUPREME COURT

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

-vs-

G. STEVEN PIGEON,

Defendant.

STATE OF NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF ERIE ) ss:

Indictment No. 0117-2016
(SAG)
PEOPLE'S RESPONSE to
Defendant's Request For
Bill of Particulars

Susan H. Sadinsky, an attorney duly admitted to practice law in the Courts of the

State of New York, affirms the truth of the following under penalty of perjury:

1. I am a New York State Assistant Attorney General appearing of counsel to Eric

T. Schneiderman, Attorney General of the State of New York, on behalf of the People of the

State of New York.

2. This affirmation is made in response to the defendant's Request for a Bill of

Particulars dated July 14, 2016, and received by the undersigned on the same day.

3. This affirmation is offered based upon personal knowledge and upon

information and belief, the grounds for which include a review of the file maintained by this

office, papers filed in connection with this case and discussions with people having

knowledge of this matter.

4. This affirmation is lettered and titled to correspond to defendants request.



PEOPLE'S RESPONSES TO DEFENDANT'S REQUESTS

1. The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law § 200.03, Bribery in the Second Degree, contained in Count One of the

Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case, including, but not

limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(b) Specify each and every financial and monetary transaction
alleged, including exact dollar amounts down to the penny:

RESPONSE: fihis request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and .belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(c) Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "in
or about February 2012 through in or about April 15, 2015"
that Mr. Pigeon was alleged to have committed the offense:

RESPONSE: While there were meetings and
communications on dates known to the defendant that are
unable to be provided by the People, specific acts and
communications in furtherance of the offense charged
occurred during the following timeframes:

2012

February 7; 8; 13
March 2; 14; 16; 19; 20; 26
April 3; 10; 11; 13; 17; 18; 25; 30
May 1; 2; 3; 8; 10; 11; 16; 17; 18; 24; 30
June 5; 22; 25; 26
July 2-3; 9-11; 16; 23; 24-27; 31
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August 1-2; 6; 9; 15-17; 20-21; 23; 27, 31~
September 1; 4; 6; 7; 25; 27
November 20; 27
December 10

2013

January 3; 8; 9; 12; 14; 23; 24; 28; 29; 30
February 1; 4; 20; 27
March 1; 11; 12; 14; 15; l8; 20
April 8; 17
May 16; 20; 21; 22; 23; 24; 28-29
June 3; 10; 11; 12; 14; 15; 17; 18-19; 21-26; 27; 28
July 8; 9; 11;14; 1 S; 1 S; 23; 24; 26; 27; 29
August 15
September 6; 11; 12; 28; 30
October l; 4; 8; 10; 11; 23; 30-31
November 1; 7; 15; 16; 18-22; 25-26
December 4; 9; 10; 17; 23

2014

January 2; 6; 18; 20; 29
February 4; 6; 8; 20; 22; 2;
March 1; 5-6; 17-18; 26; 27
Apri17
May 1-2; 21
June 3; 4; 11; 18-19; 2;
July 7; 10; 25;
August 7; 11
September 10; 25
October 8-9; 13; 14-17; 22; 23-24; 28-30
November 12; 13; 14; 17; 25
December 2; 16; 18

2015

January 5; 6; 14-15; 21; 22; 26
February 4; 8; 10; 12-13; 16-17
March 2; 13; 16
April 14; 20; 21

As previously mentioned, these dates are not all-inclusive.



(d) Specify exactly how Mr. Pigeon came to an "agreement"
and/or "understanding" with John A. Michalek:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.

(e) Specify exactly how John A. Michalek's vote, opinion,
judgment, .action, decision and exercise of discretion as a
public servant were influenced by Mr. Pigeon:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the. People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.

(~ Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon conferred,
offered and agreed to confer a benefit valued in excess of
ten thousand dollars upon John A. Michalek:

RESPONSE: The defendant conferred, offered, and agreed
to confer the benefits listed in the indictment. The value of a
judicial appointment to the Appellate Division was at
minimum $144,000, which was the statutory base salary for
an associate judge. The manner in which these benefits were
conferred is beyond the scope of CPL section 200.95,
inasmuch as it requires the People to disclose how they
intend to prove any element of the offense or item of factual
information.

(g) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both:

RESPONSE: The Peop(e intend to prove that the defendant
acted as a principal.

(h) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this



time.

(i) Whether any other persons) have been charged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and address, the specific chazges lodged against them
and the Court docket numbers for said charges:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 20.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(j) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

2. The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law § 200.00, Bribery in the Third Degree, contained in Count Two of the

Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case, including, but not

limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(b) Specify each and every financial and monetary transaction
alleged, including exact dollaz amounts down to the penny:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.
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(c) Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "in
or about February 2012 through in or about Apri] 15, 2015"
that Mr. Pigeon was alleged to have committed the offense:

RESPONSE: Aside from meetings and communications on
dates known to the defendant but unknown to the People,
the specific acts and communications in furtherance of the
offense chazged occurred during the following timeframes:

2012

February 7; 8; 13
March 2; 14; 16; 19; 20; 26
April 3; 10; 11; 13; 17; 18; 25; 30
May l; 2; 3; 8; 10; 11; 16; 17; 18; 24; 30
June 5; 22; 25; 26
July 2-3; 9-11; 16; 23; 24-27; 31
August 1-2; 6; 9; 15-17; 20-21; 23; 27, 31
September 1; 4; 6; 7; 25; 27
November 20; 27
December 10;

2013

January 3; 8; 9; 12; 14; 23; 24; 28; 29; 30
February 1; 4; 20; 27
March 1; 11; 12; 14; 15; 18; 20
April 8; 17
May 16; 20; 21; 22; 23; 2.4; 28-29
June 3; 10; 11; 12; 14; 15; 17; 18-19; 21-26; 27; 28
July 8; 9; 11;14; 15; 18; 23; 24; 26; 27; 29
August 15
September 6; 11; 12; 28; 30
October 1; 4; 8; 10; 11; 23; 30-31
November 1; 7; 15; 16; 18-22; 25-26
December 4; 9; 10; 17; 23

2014

January 2; 6; 18; 20; 29
February 4; 6; 8; 20; 22; 26
March 1; 5-6; 17-18; 26; 27
April 7
May 1-2; 21
June 3; 4; 11; 18-19; 23
July 7; 10; 25

D



August 7; 11
September 10; 25;
October 8-9; 13; 14-17; 22; 23-24; 28-30
November 12; 13; 14; 17; 25
December 2; 16; 18

2015

January 5; 6; 14-15; 21; 22; 26
February 4; 8; 10; 12-13; 16-17
March 2; 13; 16
April 14; 20; 21

As previously mentioned, these dates are not all-inclusive.

(d) Specify exactly how Mr. Pigeon came to an "agreement"
and/or "understanding" with John A. Michalek:

RESPONSE: 'This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.

(e) Specify exactly how John A. Michalek's vote, opinion,
judgment, action, decision and exercise of discretion as a
public servant were influenced by Mr. Pigeon:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.

(~ Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon conferred,
offered and agreed to confer a benefit valued in excess of
ten thousand dollars upon John A. Michalek:

RESPONSE: The defendant conferred, offered, and agreed
to confer the benefits alleged in the indictment.

(g) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both:

RESPONSE: The People intend to prove that the defendant
acted as a principal.

(h) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
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who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(i) Whether any other persons) have been charged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and address, the specific charges lodged against them
and the Court docket numbers for said charges:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and. belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(j) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

3. The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law § 200.20, Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second Degree, contained in

Count Three of the Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct

case, including, but not limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(b) Specify each and every way Mr. Pigeon provided assistance
to Relative 1 in searching for employment:
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RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information. The defendant is directed to
the emails already in his possession.

(c) Specify the name, age, and address of Relative 1:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(d) Specify the exact relationship between Relative 1 and John
A. Michalek:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information ~ and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(e) Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "in
or about February 2012 through on or about March 16,
2015" that Mr. Pigeon was alleged to have committed the
offense:

RESPONSE: Aside from meetings and communications on
dates known to the defendant but unknown to the People,
the specific acts and communications in furtherance of the
offense chazged occurred during the following time frames:

2012

February 7; 8; 13; 16; 17
March 2; 15; Mazch 16; 19; 20; 26
April 3; 10; 11; 17; 18; 19; 30
May 1; 2; 3; 8; 10; 11; 16; 17; 18; 24; 30
June 5; 22; 25; 26
July 2-3; 9-1 l; 23; 24-27; 31
August 1-2; 6; 9; 15-17; 20-23; 27, 31
September 1; 4; 6; 7; 25; 27
November 20; 27

D



2013

January 3; 12; 14; 23; 28; 29; 30
February 1; 4; 20; 27
March l; 11; 12; 14; 15; 18; 20
April 8; 17
May 16; 20; 21; 22; 23; 24; 28-29
June 3; 10; 11; 12; 14; 15; 17; 18-19; 21-26; 27; 28
July 6; 8; 9; 11;14; 15; 18; 23; 26; 27; 29 ,
August 8; 15
September 4; 6; 11; 12; 28; 30
October 8; l0; 11; 23; 30
November 15; 16; 18-20; 22; 25-26
December 4; 9; 10; 17

2014

January 2; 20; 29
February 4; 26
Mazch 26; 27.
Apri17
May 21
June 4; 11; l9; 23
July 7; l0
September 10; 25
October 8-9; 13; 14-15; 17; 20; 22; 23-24; 28-30
November 12; 13; 17; 25
December 2; 18

ZO15

January 5; 6; 14-15; 21; 22; 26
February 4; 8; 10; 12-13; 16-17; 18
Mazch 13; 16

As previously mentioned, these dates are not all-inclusive.

(~ Specify exactly how John A. Michalek violated his duty as a
public servant:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.
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(g) Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon "knowingly"
conferred, offered and agreed to confer a benefit upon John
A. Michalek:

RESPONSE: The People intend to prove that the defendant
was awaze that he conferred, offered, and agreed to confer a
benefit upon John A. Michalek.

(h) Specify the exact benefit Mr. Pigeon received for providing
this alleged assistance:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information. Moreover, it is not an
element of the crime of Rewazding Official Misconduct in
the Second Degree that the defendant received a benefit
from the public servant.

(i) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both:

RESPONSE: The People intend to prove that the defendant
acted as a principal.

(j) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(k) Whether any other persons) have been charged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and address, the specific charges lodged against them
and the Court docket numbers for said charges:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time:
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(1) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

4. The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law § 200.20, Rewazding Official Misconduct in the Second Degree, contained in

Count Four of the Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case,

including, but not limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(b) Specify each and every way Mr. Pigeon recommended that
John A. Michalek be appointed to the Appellate Division of
the New York Supreme Court:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.

(c) Specify to whom Mr. Pigeon recommended that John A.
Michalek be appointed to the Appellate Division:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires. the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.

(d) Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "on
or about December 10, 2012 through on or about April 20,
2015" that Mr. Pigeon was alleged to have committed the
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offense:

RESPONSE: Aside from meetings and communications on
dates known to the defendant but unknown to the People,
the specific acts and _communications in furtherance of the
offense charged occurred during the following time frames:

2012

December 10

2013

January 3; 8; 23; 24; 28; 29; 30
February 20
May 16; 20; 21
October 1; 4; 8; 10; 11; 23
November 21
December 4; 9

2014

January 20
February 4
March 26; 27
May 21
June 19
July 10

2015

January 15; 21; 22
April 20

As previously mentioned, these dates are not all-inclusive.

(e) Specify exactly how John A. Michalek violated his duty as a
public servant:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.

(~ Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon "knowingly"
conferred, offered and agreed to confer a benefit upon John
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A. Michalek:

RESPONSE: The People intend to prove that the defendant
was aware that he conferred, offered, and agreed to confer a
benefit upon John A. Michalek.

(g) Specify the exact benefit Mr. Pigeon received for providing
this alleged assistance:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information. Moreover, it_ is not an
element of the crime of Rewarding Official Misconduct in
the Second Degree that the defendant received a benefit
from the public servant.

(h) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both:

RESPONSE: The People intend to prove that the defendant
acted as a principal.

(i) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
who aided or abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(j) Whether any other persons) have been charged separately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and address, the specific charges lodged against them .
and the Court docket numbers for said charges:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(k) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime:
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RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

~. The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law § 200.20, Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second Degree, contained in

Counts Five and Six of the Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their

direct case, including, but not limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon inforrnation and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(b) Specify each seat number and section for the hockey tickets
provided:

RESPONSE: The hockey tickets provided by the defendant
were for seating in a ̀'box" or suite.

(c) Specify exactly how many hockey tickets were provided:

RESPONSE: Two for each game:

(d) Specify the exact value of the hockey tickets:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.

(e) Specify the exact benefit Mr. Pigeon received for providing
these hockey tickets:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
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section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the ~ People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information. Moreover, it is not an
element of the crime of Rewarding Official Misconduct in
the Second Degree that the defendant received a benefit
from the public servant.

(~ Specify exactly how John A. Michalek violated his duty as a
public servant:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section- 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.

(g) Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon "knowingly"
conferred, offered and agreed to confer a benefit upon John
A. Michalek:

RESPONSE: The People intend to prove that the defendant
was aware that he conferred, offered, and agreed to confer a
benefit upon John A. Michalek.

(h) Whether thePeople intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both:

RESPONSE: The People intend to prove that the defendant
acted as a principal.

(i) Whether or not there exists or existed any other persons)
who aided ar abetted said defendant with respect to the
alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section. 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sough is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(j) Whether any other persons) have been charged sepazately
for this offense or for any related criminal activity, and their
names and address, the specific charges lodged against them
and the Court docket numbers for said chazges:
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RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(k) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

6. The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law § 200.20, Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second Degree, contained in

Count Seven of the Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case,

including, but not limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense:

REQUEST: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(b) Specify each and every way Mr. Pigeon provided assistance
to Relative 2 in searching for employment and appointed
positions:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.

(c) Specify the name, age, and address of Relative 2:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
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time.

(d) Specify the exact relationship between Relative 2 and John
A. Michalek:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

£ Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "on
or about October 30, 2013 through on or about January 26,
2015" that Mr. Pigeon was alleged to have committed the
offense:

RESPONSE: Aside from meetings and communications on
dates known to the defendant but unknown to the People,
the specific acts and communications in furtherance of the
offense charged occurred during the following time frames:

2013

October 30-31
November 1; 7; 16; 18-20; 21

2014

May 21
July 7; 10; 11
September 10; 11; 25
October 8-9; 13; 14-15; 16-17; 22
December 2

2015

January 5; 14; 21; 22; 26

As previously mentioned, these dates are not all-inclusive.

(fl Specify exactly how John A. Michalek violated his duty as a
public servant:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
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or item of factual information.

(~) Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon "knowingly"
conferred, offered and agreed to confer a benef t upon John
A. Michalek:

RESPONSE: The People intend to prove that the defendant
was aware that he conferred, offered, and agreed to confer a
benefit upon John A. Michalek.

(h) Specify the exact benefit Mr. Pigeon received for providing
this alleged assistance:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information. Moreover, it is not an
element of the crime of Rewazding Official Misconduct in
the Second Degree that the defendant received a benefit
from the public servant.

(i) Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant acted
as principal or accomplice or both:

RESPONSE: [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is
also referred to as (h).) The People intend to prove that the
defendant acted as a principal.

(j) [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
(i).) Whether or not there exists or existed any other
persons) who aided or abetted said defendant with respect
to the alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(k) [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
(j).] Whether any other persons) have been charged
separately for this offense or for any related criminal
activity, and their names and address, the specific charges
lodged against them and the Court docket numbers for said
charges:
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RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(1) [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
(k).) Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

7. The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law § 200.20, Rewarding Official Misconduct in the Second Degree, contained in

Count Eight of the Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case,

including, but not limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(b) Specify the exact value of the fundraiser ticket:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of. the offense
or item of factual information.

(c) Specify the charity that the fundraiser was supporting:

RESPONSE: The event was not a charitable fundraiser.

(d) [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
(e).] Specify the exact benefit Mr. Pigeon received for
providing the fundraiser ticket:
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RESPONSE: ̀This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information. Moreover, it is not an
element of the crime of Rewarding Official Misconduct in
the Second Degree that the defendant received a benefit
from the public servant.

(e) [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
(~.] Specify exactly,how John A. Michalek violated his duty
as a public servant:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95, inasmuch as it requires the. People to
disclose how they intend to prove any element of the offense
or item of factual information.

(~ [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
(g).] Specify the exact manner in which Mr. Pigeon
"knowingly" conferred, offered and agreed to confer a
benefit upon John A. Michalek:

RESPONSE: The People intend to prove that the defendant
was aware that he conferred, offered, and agreed to confer a
benefit upon John A. Michalek.

(g) [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
(h~.] Whether the People intend to prove that the defendant
acted as principal or accomplice or both:

RESPONSE: The People intend to prove that the defendant
acted as a principal.

(h) (In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
(i).) Whether or not there exists or existed any other
persons) who aided or abetted said defendant with respect
to the alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses:

RESPONSE:. This request is beyond the scope of C,PL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(i) [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
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(j).] Whether any other persons) have been charged
separately for this offense or for any related criminal
activity, and their names and address, the specific charges
lodged against them and the Court docket numbers for said
charges:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(j) [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
(k).]Identify all alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, and the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

8. The substance of G. Steven Pigeon's conduct encompassed by the charge of

Penal Law § 155.35(1), Grand Larceny in the Third Degree, contained in Count Nine of the

Indictment, which the People intend to prove at trial on their direct case, including, but not

limited to:

(a) Specify each and every document that the government will
rely upon to prove the commission of this offense:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(b) Specify exactly how much money Mr. Pigeon allegedly
stole by extortion in exact dollar amounts down to the
penny:

RESPONSE: $5,000.
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(c) Specify the exact dates beyond the description given of "on
or about August 23, 2012 through in or about March 22,
2013" that Mr. Pigeon was alleged to have committed the
offense:

RESPONSE: Aside from meetings and communications on
dates known to the defendant but unknown to the People,
the specifc acts and communications in furtherance of the
offense charged occurred on the following dates, in addition
to the dates in the indictment:

During the summer and fall o€ 2012; early March 2013;
March 12, 2013.

(d) Specify the exactly how Mr. Pigeon "stole" property
exceeding $3,000.00:

RESPONSE: As noted in the. indictment, defendant stole
property exceeding $3,000 in value by extortion.

(e) Specify exactly how Mr. Pigeon "extorted" property from "a
person known to the Grand Jury":

RESPONSE: See paragraph 8(d), supra. Any further
response is beyond the scope of CPL Section 2Q0.95 and
upon information and belief, as the information sought is not
required to be disclosed at this time.

(~ Specify exactly who "a person known to the Grand Jury" is:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.
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(g) Specify the exact relationship between Mr. Pigeon and "a
person known to the Grand Jury":

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(h) [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is also referred to
as (g).] Whether the People intend to prove that the
defendant acted as principal or accomplice or both:

RESPONSE: The People intend to prove that the defendant
acted as a principal.

(i) [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
(h).] Whether or not there exists or existed any other
persons) who aided or abetted said defendant with respect
to the alleged commission of this crime and their names and
addresses:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

(j) [In the defendant's papers, this paragraph is referred to as
(i).] Whether any other persons) have been charged
separately for this offense or for any related criminal
activity, and their names and address, the specific charges
lodged against them and the Court docket numbers for said
charges:

RESPONSE: This request is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.
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(k) [In the defendant's papers, this pazagraph is referred to as
(j).] Identify all. alleged witnesses to any conduct which the
prosecution claims forms part of the chain of events of the
alleged crime:

RESPONSE: This request. is beyond the scope of CPL
section 200.95 and upon information and belief, the
information sought is not required to be disclosed at this
time.

Dated: Buffalo, New York
July ~ 2016

Respectfully submitted,

ERIC T. SCHNEIDERMAN
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE.
STATE OF NEW YORK

By: ~-~
Susan H. Sadinsky '~
Assistant Attorney General
350 Main Street, Suite 300A
Buffalo, New York 14202
(716) 853-8461
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF ERIE SUPREME COURT

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

-vs-

G. STEVEN PIGEON
DOB: 08/12/60

INDICTMENT NO. O1 ] 77-2016 (SAG)

Defendant.

NOTICE TO DEFENDANT OF INTENTION TO OFFER EVIDENCE AT TRIAL
Sections 710.30 CPL and 700.70 CPL

The People intend to offer at trial:

I. Statements by defendant: Evidence of a statement made by the Defendant to a public servant engaged in law
enforcement activity or to a person then acting under his direction or in cooperation with him/her.

x 1. Written Statement: Please see attached statement dated August 15, 2008.

2. Oral Statement: Please see attached summary of statements.

II. Identification of Defendant(s): Testimony identifying the Defendants) as a persons) who committed the
offense charged by witnesses who have identified him/her as such prior to arrest/trial. Specifically:

,I. Confrontation at or near Crime scene.

_ 2. Photograph Identification: November 18, 2013 confirmatory identification by four witnesses in the Grand
Jury at 350 Main Street, Buffalo, New York.

3. Line-Up. None

_ 4. Observation of Defendants) upon some other occasion relevant to the case. None

III. Eavesdropping Warrant: Contents of an intercepted communication or evidence received therefrom.

_ 1. Eavesdropping Warrant and accompanying application -for warrant (attach copies of both) 
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------

FORPOLICE USE
Arresting Agency :Attorney General CP/NYSP

Arresting Officers) (name)

Arraigning Court:
FOR COURT USE

DefendantlAttorney (name)



STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF ERIE SUPREME COURT

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

-vs-

G. STEVEN PIGEON
DOB: 08/12/60

IND. NO. 01177-2016 (SAG)

Defendant.

NOTICE TO DEFENDANT OF INTENTION TO OFFER EVIDENCE AT TRIAL
Sections 710.30 CPL and 700.70 CPL

ATTACHMENT

On August 15., 2408, at 7~3 Admiral's Walk, Buffalo, New York, G. Stephen Pigeon, DOB:
8/12/60, SSN: XXX-XX-6296, telephone number (716)609-2409 and (716)854-7454, was
interviewed by Erie County District Attorney's Office Confidential Criminal Investigator
Anthony Costantino and Federal Bureau of Investigations Special Agent Brian Bums. Mr.
Pigeon stated, in relevant part:

Pigeon stated he owns a company called Landen Associates ("Landen"). Pigeon stated Landen is
a consulting company and he, John Bartolomei, and Roger Stone are partner. He stated that
Roger Stone is the Darth Vader of the Republican Party. Pigeon statement Stone.~vas brought in
by the Bush candidacy in 2000 in Florida relative to the hanging chads incident. Pigeon stated if
the investigator had seen the HBO movie related to the 2000 election and the hanging chads
incident, they would recall the actor portraying James Baker stating they need to get Roger
Stone. Pigeon stated the Roger Stone explains he is the one who taught Karl Rove.

Pigeon stated that monies from Landen that went to Thornton LLC are for John Bartolomei's
work as it related to Landen's projects.

Pigeon stated that G.S.D.P. LLC is a consulting company that involves him and his longtime
friend, Gary Parenti. Pigeon stated Parenti worked on the Solstice casino business also. The
money flowed through Landen as a way to not link Parenti to casino gambling money in case he
(Parenti) chose to run for elected office again. Pigeon stated a separate account for G.S.D.P.
funds related to the Solstice funds was set up. Pigeon stated ali these money transfers were done
before Parenti received a DWI which would likely make him unable to run for elected office.
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To: Any Laws E~orcement Officer of the Federal Eureatr of Ynvesti~ation, New' York S#ate
Police, New York State Office of the Attorney General, Internal Revenue Servace, and New
York 5~at~ D~gartm~u~ of T'axa~i~r and Fanance

Upon the affidavit of Senior Investigator Dubrinksi of the New York State Police, which
establishes probable cause to believe that Steven Pigeon 1} accepted a donation in a name other
than the true donor in violation of New York Election and Penal Laws and 2) intentionally failed
to register and report his lobbying activities with the New York State Joint Commission on
Public Ethics in violation of the Lobby Act, both crimes having been committed, sworn before
me on this date:

YOU 11RE HEREBY COMMANDED, between the hours of 6:00 A.M. and 9:00 P.M.,
~~~~ r~~: aizti.c~

to make a search of the home office of Steven Pigeon located at 1003 Admirals Walk, Buffalo,

NY 14202; (the "PREMISES") as well as the person of Steven Pigeon. The PREMISES is on

the i floor of a multi-story condominium structure. The PREMISES is accessed through
~~

'the lobby and via an elevator to the ~~  floor. The search of the PREI~✓IISES should include '`
any enclosure located within, including any cabinet, desk, closet, locker, safe, briefcase,

computer, peripheral device, or other container, whether Iacke~' or ~-ilocked, which may be

found within such premises or on the person of Steven Pigeon and which may reasonably contain

any of the following progert5~ constituting evidence of the crimes of referenced herein, and as

more specifrcaily defined below.

I Hake this application for a vti~arrant to seazch the PREMISES and Steven Pigeon's

person for specified property, including:

Any and all documents and records, whether hard copy ar in electronic farm, relating
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to ~teve~ 1 igeon's unlawful lobbying an behalf of Nick Sia~a~ra and all "documents" and

"financial records959 whether in hard copy or electronic form, relating to 5tev~n Pigeon's

involvement with the Western New York Prowess' Ca s as well as individuals,

businesses, and entities associated with-.the Western New York Progressive Caucus;

IT IS ORDERED, that as used above,

"Docuanent" is to be construed in its broadest sense and means each and every
writing of whatever nature, whether an original, a draft, or a copy, however
produced or reproduced,. and each and every tangible thing from which
information can be processed or transcribed, such as tape or other electronic
data communications and includes, but is not limited to, financial. records, as
defined below, bank statements, letters, e-mails, tee messages, chat logs,
voicemails, memoranda, notes, instructions, reports, analyses, telegrams,
facsimiles, diaries, calendars, logs, journals, books, notebooks, plans, records,
forms, charts, graphs, audio, visual and- digital recordings, photographs
(positive prints and negatives), slides, warlesheets, customer checks, credit
cards, debit cards, applications, credit card charge slips, expense reports,
computation sheets, computer printouts and programs, tapes, videotapes,
diskettes and CD-ROMS, microfilm, microfiche, any mazginal comments
appearing on any document, copies of documents that are not identical
duplications of the originals (e.g., because. handwritten or "blind" copy notes
appeaz thereon or are attached thereto), and any paper that appears to contain
computer passwords.

"Financial Record" means any written, printed, recorded, or computerized
information, together with the medium containing this information, including:
balance sheets and operating statements; genezal ledgers and journals; bid
information, vendor account files; contracts, purchase orders,. change orders,
back chazges, additions to contracts, requisitions, vouchers, invoices; and
records of bills paid; certificates of incorporation and minutes of shareholder
meetings;' federal and state income tax returns, including drafts thereof; other
filings made with governments or government agencies together with
supporting work papers, memoranda, and correspondence; bank. account
records, including monthly statements, check books, cancelled checks,.deposit
slips and confirmations; records of cash receipts and disbursements and other
records of payments made, received and owing; records of accounts payable
and accounts receivables financial instruments, such as checks, promissory
notes and .other instruments evidencing debt or payment; company employee
lists; certified payroll reports; payroll registers; daily time sheets; sign-in
sheets or books; time cards; field reports; and business agent reports; recards
of checking, savings, money market, certificate of deposit accounts, including
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account transcripts, monthly statements, 5fl~I13tUI'e C~CIS, corporate
 banking

resolutions, cancelled checks, deposit and witlfldrawal slips, deposite
d checks,

records of wire transfers in acid o~zt, debit and credit m~ermorandums, 
and

signature verification forms and bat~c references; received checks,
 general

ledger and subsidiary ledgers; records of real estate holdings or transac
tions;

accounts receivable, cash disbursement records, invoices and recei
pts; records

pertaining to safe deposit boxes; all records of communications, in
cluding

emails, concerning financial transactions.

FURTHER that the officers executing this warrant are authorized to sear
ch, seize and

remove from the person of Steven Pigeon and the PREMISES any compu
ters, computer

software, computer hardware, and computer-related equipment, and to cr
eate a duplicate original

forensic image of data containedtherein if on-site circumstances allow t
he investigators to do so,

and that computers and computer-related equipment are defined as follo
ws:

The term "computer" refers to the box that houses the central processing
 unit, along with

any internal storage devices (such as internal hard drives) and internal commu
nications

devices (such as internal modems capable of sendinglreceiving electron
ic mail or FAX

cards j along with any other hardware stored or housed internally. Thus, "computer"

refers to computer systems, computer hardware, computer software, s
mart phones,

tablets, PDAs, MP3 players, electronic devices and all external component
s such as

external hard drives, hardware, software and data. contained therein. Print
ers, external

modems (attached by cable to the main unit), monitors, peripheral st
orage devices

(including, e~emal hard drives, floppy disks, CDs, and thumb drives), tra
nsistor-like

binary devices, and attached inputloutput devices (such as keyboards, print
ers, scanners,

plotters, video display monitors, and optical readers) and other memory storag
e devices

will be refereed to collectively as "peripherals." When the ,computer and all periph
erals

are referred to as one package, the term "computer system" is used. Information refer
s to

all the information on a computer system including both software applications an
d data.

The term "computer hardware," as used in this affidavit, refers to all equipm
ent which

can collect, analyze, create, display, convert, store, conceal, or transmit 
electronic,

magnetic, optical, or similar computer impulses or data. Hardware includes, b
ut is not

limited to: any routers, data.-processing devices (such as central processing unit
s, memory

typewriters, and self-contained "laptop" or "notebook" computers); intern
al storage

devices; transistor-like binary devices, and other memory storage devices; an
d related

communications devices (such as modems, cables and connections, recordin
g equipment,

RAM or ROM units, acoustic couplers, automatic dialers, speed dialers, progr
ammable

telephone dialing or signaling devices, and electronic tone-generating devices); 
as well as

any devices, mechanisms, or parts that can be used to restrict access to co
mputer

hardware {such as physical keys and locks).



The term "computer software," as used in flue affidavit, refers to digital infor at~o~,
which can be interpreted by a conlputea- ar~d a.~y of its related coffiponents to direct the
way they work. Software is stored in electronic; magnetic, optical, or other digital form.
It commonly includes programs to r~ operating systems, applications (such as word
processing, graphics, or spreadsheet programs), utilities, compilers, interpreters, and
communications programs. Computer software is generally sold by a manufacturer in the
form of digital data contained on various computer media, such as 3`/z inch floppy
diskettes and CDs, and may also be found installed on the computer hardware.

FURTHER, that paper documents maybe seized together with the file folders or other

containers in which they are found;

FURTHER that investigators, law enforcement officers, agents, computer experts,

auditors, and analysts with the New York State Office of the Attorney General, Federal Bureau

of Investigation, Internal Revenue Service, and New York State Police are authorized to assist in

the execution of the warrant.

FURTHER, this Court authorized the officers executing the search warrant to remove any

computers, computer software, computer hardware, and computer-related equipment seized

pursuant to this warrant to remove these to aforensically-secure location in order to properly

conduct a thorough search of their contents;

FURTI~R, this Court authorizes a search by law enforcement officers and employees of

Office of the Attorney General, Federal Bureau of Investigation, ,Internal Revenue Service, and

New York State Police of all files and data stored in computers, smartphones and other electronic

storage devices as described above, irrespective of how the data is filed, labeled, designated,

encrypted, hidden, disguised or otherwise stored;

FURTI~R, this court authorizes that paper documents maybe seized together with the

file folders or other containers in which they are found;
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FUI~TI~ER., tla~s curt authorizes that, with respect to any computers, smart phones, and

other ePectroaic storage devices, as described above, for purposes of the requirement that a

search warrant be executed with ten days as mandated by C.P.L. §69030(1), this warrant will be

deemed executed at the time that said devices are seized and removed from the target premises,

and that the seazch of said devices may continue thereafter for whatever reasonable time is

necessary to complete a thorough search pursuant to the warrant;

FURTHER, that the officers executing this warrant aze authorized to take photographs

andfor video recardings in the course of the search to show the place from which property was

seized;

FURTHER, that this warrant shall be executed within ten days of the date of issuance,

and that an inventory of any seized property pursuant hereto shall be delivered to the Court arfld

this warrant shall be returned to the Court without unnecessary delay;

AND IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, that the affidavit in support of this warrant, and any

returns in connection with this warrant, shall be sealed until further order of the Court, with one

copy to remain unsealed for use by the New York State Office of the Attorney General, and that

any property seized pursuant to this warrant shall remain in the custody of the United States

Federal Bureau of Investigation and/or New York State Office of the Attorney General.

~f ~~ ~~f~ ,~~ ~-
Date. J' J ~
Time: ~ t ~ JUDGE
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